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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

(RICHMOND DIVISION) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

and 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. "3 : I "3c" V I q 3 
Plaintiffs 

v. 

HONEYWELL RESINS & CHEMICALS LLC 

Defendant 
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WHEREAS, Plaintiff United States o.f America, o.n behalf o.f the United States 

Enviro.nmental Protectio.n Agency ("EPA"), and Plaintiff, the Co.mmo.nwealth o.f Virginia 

("Virginia") o.n behalf o.f the Virginia Department o.f Environmental Quality ("V ADEQ") have 

filed co.ncurrently a Co.mplaint with this Consent Decree alleging that Defendant Ho.neywell 

Resins & Chemicals LLC ("Defendant" o.r "Ho.neywell") vio.lated provisio.ns o.fthe Clean Air 

Act (the "CAA" o.r the "Act", 42 U.S. C. §7401 et seq.) at Ho.neywell's manufacturing facility 

Io.cated at 905 East Rando.lph Ro.ad, Ho.pewell, Virginia 23860 (the "Facility"); and 

WHEREAS, the Co.mplaint alleges that Defendant Ho.neywell vio.lated the CAA, the 

Virginia regulatio.ns which are a Po.rtio.n o.fthe Virginia State Implementatio.n Plan (the "Virginia 

SIP") fo.und at 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart VV, Sectio.n 52.2420( c), certain requirements o.f 

Ho.neywell's Title V o.perating permit, 40 CFR Part 61, Subpart FF, the Natio.nal Emissio.n 

Standards fo.r Benzene Waste Operatio.ns ("Benzene Waste NESHAP" o.r "Subpart FF"), 40 CFR 

Part 63, Subpart H, the Natio.nal Emissio.n Standard fo.r Organic Hazardo.us Air Po.llutants from 

Equipment Leaks ("HON" o.r "Subpart H"), 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart VV, the Standards o.f 

Perfo.rmance fo.r Equipment Leaks o.fVOC in the Synthetic Organic Chemicals Manufacturing 

Industry fo.r which Co.nstructio.n, Reco.nstructio.n, o.r Mo.dificatio.n Co.mmenced After January 5, 

1981, and o.n o.r befo.re No.vember 7, 2006 ("NSPS VV"), the 3/2611997 Reaso.nably Available 

Co.ntrol Techno.Io.gy ("RACT") Agreement and 9 VAC 5-80-110 o.fVirginia State Regulatio.ns 

and vario.us permits by failing to. meet certain emissio.n limits and o.perating parameters, and by 

failing to. co.mply with certain requirements fo.r testing, mo.nito.ring, reco.rdkeeping and repo.rting; 

and 
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WHEREAS, on March 11, 2009 and August 21, 2009, EPA issued to Honeywell Notices 

of Violation ("NOV") alleging a failure to comply with certain requirements of the CAA, the VA 

SIP, the Benzene Waste NESHAP, the HON, NSPS VV, the 1997 RACT Agreement, and 

various requirements of the Virginia Title V Operating Permit, Permit No. PROS0232, issued 

January 1,2007 (the "Title V Permit"), and the Virginia Stationary Source Phased Construction 

Permit, New Source Performance Standard Permit and a Permit to Construct, Reconstruct, 

Modify and Operate (collectively "the Phased Construction Permit"), issued April 7, 2004; and 

WHEREAS, Defendant does not admit any liability to the United States or Virginia 

arising out of the transactions or occurrences alleged in the Complaint; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Consent Decree [rods, 

that this Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and will avoid litigation 

among the Parties and that this Consent Decree is fair, reasonable, and in the public interest; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that the two (2) towers in "Area 9" (as that term is 

defined in Section III below) of the Facility at "D Train" are not addressed under this Consent 

Decree, but are, nonetheless, subject to a minor new source review permit issued to Honeywell 

by the Virginia Department of Enviromnental Quality on January 23, 1998, in connection with 

the installation of a NO Oxidizer Time Tank on TW-22, and a packed bed scrubber (a/k/a NO 

Reactor) on TW-23, to reduce nitrogen oxide ("NOx") emissions from the two towers in D 

Train in Area 9 of the Facility, and that this "NOx Abatement Technology" (as that term is 

defined in Section III below) constituted best available control technology ("BACT") for the two 

towers at D Train at the time of installation in connection with the January 23, 1998 permit. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, before the taking of any testimony, without the adjudication or 

admission of any issue of fact or law except as provided in Section I, and with the consent of the 

Parties, IT IS HEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as follows: 

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

I. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action, pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§'1331, 1345, and 1355, and Section I 13 (b) ofthe Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), 

and over the Parties. Venue lies in this District pursuant to I 13 (b) ofthe Clean Air Act,42 U.S.C. 

§ 7413(b),and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), and § 1395(a), because the violations alleged in the 

Complaint are alleged to have occurred in, and Defendant conducts business in, this judicial 

District. For purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this Decree, Defendant consents to 

the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree, and any such action, and over Defendant and consents to 

venue in this judicial District. 

2. For purposes of this Consent Decree, Defendant agrees that the Complaint states 

claims upon which relief may be granted pursuant to Section 113(b) of the Clean Air Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 7413(b). 

II. APPLICABILITY 

3. The obligations ofthis Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon the United 

States and Virginia, and upon Defendant and any successors, assigns, or other entities or persons 

otherwise bound by law. 

4. Transfer of Ownership or Operation. 

a. No transfer of ownership or operation of the Facility, whether in compliance. 

with the procedures of this Paragraph or otherwise, shall relieve Honeywell of its obligation to 
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ensure that the terms of this Decree are implemented, unless consented to in writing by the United 

States and Virginia. Honeywell shall condition any such sale or transfer on agreement by such 

c transferee and/or successor-in-interest to assume the obligations under this Consent Decree and to 

submit to the jurisdiction of this Court. 

b. At least thirty (30) Days prior to the transfer of ownership or operation of the 

Facility, Honeywell shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to the proposed transferee and 

shall simultaneously provide written notice of the prospective transfer, together with: I) a 

description of the proposed transfer agreement, 2) the portions of the agreement relevant to the 

implementation of the requirements of this Consent Decree, and 3) a statement describing the 

measures taken by Honeywell to obtain the transferee's agreement to assume the obligations of 

this Consent Decree, to EPA Region III, the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of 

Virginia, Virginia, and the United States Department of Justice, in accordance with Section XXII 

of this Decree (Notices). 

5. Honeywell shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to all officers, employees, 

and agents whose duties might reason<lbly include compliance with any provision of this Decree, 

as well as to any contractor retained to perform work required under this Consent Decree. 

Honeywell shall condition any such contract on performance ofthe work in conformity with the 

terms of this Consent Decree. 

6. In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall not raise as a defense 

the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or contractors to take any actions 

necessary to comply with the provisions of this Consent Decree. 
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III. DEFINITIONS 

7. Terms used in this Consent Decree that are defined in the Act or in regulations 

promulgated pursuant to the Act, including the Virginia State Implementation Plan approved by 

EPA, shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Actor such regulations, unless otherwise 

provided in this Decree. Whenever the terms set forth below are used in this Consent Decree, the 

following definitions shall apply: 

a. "Agencies" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and 

the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality. 

b. "Area 9" shall mean the section of the Honeywell, Hopewell, VA facility that 

produces hydroxylamine sulfate for use in the Area .8, Area 14 and Performance Chemicals 

sections of the Facility. Area 9. has 5 Trains of process equipment that produce the chemical, 

hydroxylamine disulfonate, which is hydrolyzed into hydroxylamine sulfate at the end of the Area 

9 process. These Trains are referred to as "A", "B", "C", "D" and "E". Each Train contains an 

ammonium nitrite tdwer and a hydroxylamine disulfonate tower. 

c. "Complaint" shall mean the Complaint filed by the United States and the 

Commonwealth of Virginia in this action. 

d. "Continuous Emission Monitoring System" or "CEMS" shall mean the entire 

system of equipment used to sample, analyze, and provide a permanent record of emissions from a 

process unit or control device on a continuous basis. This system of equipment shall be installed, 

operated, and maintained in accordance with 40 C.F.R. Part 60. 
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e. "Continuous Monitoring System" or "CMS" shall mean the entire system of 

equipment used to sample, analyze, and provide a permanent record of operating parameter values 

from a process unit or control device on a continuous basis. 

f. "Consent Decree" or "Decree" shall mean this Decree and all appendices 

attached hereto (listed in Section XXXI). 

g. "Day" shall mean a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business day. 

"Business day" shall mean any day the Facility is in operation except for Saturday, Sunday or a 

federal holiday. In computing any period of time under this Consent Decree, where the last day 

would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period shall run until.the close of 

business of the next business day, 

h. "Defendant" shall mean Honeywell Resins & Chemicals LLC. 

1. "Electronic Monitoring, Compliance Assurance, and Marragement System" 

("EM CAMS") shall mean the system used to determine NOx emissions on A, B and C Trains in 

Area 9 by correlation with operating parameters (e.g., temperature, pressure, ammonia and sulfur 

flow rate, nitrite residual) using a mathematical model developed by Honeywell. 

j. "EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any 

of its successor departments or agencies. 

k. "Effective Date" shall mean the date upon which this Consent Decree is entered 

by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as 

recorded on the Court's docket. 

1. "Facility" shall mean the chemical manufacturing facility located at 905 East 

Randolph Road, Hopewell, Virginia, 23860 currently owned and operated by Honeywell. 
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m. "Long tenn" shall mean a rolling 12 month period, which is a period of 12 

consecutive months detennined on a rolling basis with a new 12 month period beginning the first 

day of each calendar month. 

n. "Low Temperature Selective Catalytic Reduction" ("SCR") shall mean the 

control technology to be installed to reduce nitrogen oxide ("NOx") emissions from A, B, C and E 

Trains in Area 9. Any mist eliminators installed on these trains are not control technology for 

NOx emissions. 

o. "Malfunction" shall mean any sudden, infrequent, and not reasonably 

preventable failure of air pollution control and monitoring equipment, process equipment, or a 

process to operate in a nonnal or usual manner. Failures that are caused in part by poor 

maintenance or careless operation are not Malfunctions. 

p. "Month" or "Months" shall mean a calendar month or months. 

q. "NOx Abatement Technology" shall mean the existing Nitrogen Oxide Oxidizer 

Time Tank on TW-22 and the existing packed bed scrubber on TW-23 installed in the mid-1990s 

to reduce NOx emissions from the towers in D Train in Area 9. 

r. "Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Decreeidentified by an arabic numeral. 

s. "Parties" shall mean the Plaintiffs, the United States of America and the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, and Defendant. 

t. "RACT Agreement" shall mean the 1997 Reasonably Achievable Control 

Technology Agreement between Virginia and Defendant. 
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u. "Short-term" shall mean a rolling three-hour hourly average emission rate 

deterri1ined on a rolling basis with a new three hour period beginning in the first minute of each 

hour. 

v. "Section" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by a roman numeral. 

w; "Startup" shall mean, with respect to any nitrite tower in A, B, C, D or E Trains 

in Area 9, the period of time beginning when the feed of ammonia to the ammonia oxidation 

system commences and with respect to any disulfonate tower in A, B, C, D or E Trains in Area 9, 

the period of time when the feed of sulfur to the sulfur burning system commences and, in either 

case, lasting for no more than 12 consecutive hours during which the tower has an elevated rate of 

NOx emissions. 

x. "Total Annual Benzene" ("TAB") quantity shall have the definition in 40 CFR 

61.342. 

y. "Tower" shall mean either an ammonium nitrite tower or a hydroxylamine 

disulfonate tower. Each Train in Area 9 contains one nitrite tower and one disulfonate tower. 

These towers are vertical vessels containing one or more beds of packing. The purpose of the 

tower is to allow contact and reaction of a gaseous component with a recirculating liquid in a 

continuous process to produce the desired product. Each tower has a gaseous vent stream that 

contains NOx. 

z. "United States" shall mean the United States of America, acting on behalf of 

EPA. 

aa. "VADEQ" shall mean the Virginia Department of Enviromnental Quality and 

any of its successor departments or agencies. 
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bb. "Year" or "Years" shall mean a calendar year or years .. 

IV. CMLPENALTY 

8. Within thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, Defendant 

shall pay the sum of $1. 5 million dollars cash to the United States as a civil penalty, together with 

interest accruing from the Effective Date, at the rate specified in 28 U.S.C. § 1961 as of the 

Effective Date. 

9. Within thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, Defendant 

shall pay the sum of $1.5 million dollars cash to Virginia as acivil penalty. Civil penalty 

payments due to the Commonwealth shall be made by check, certifiable check, money order or 

cashier's check payable to the Treasurer of Virginia and forwarded to the Department of 

Environmental Quality, Receipts Control Office, P.O. Box 1105, Richmond, VA 23218. 

10. Defendant shall pay the civil penalties due to the United States by electronic funds 

transfe~ ("EFT") to the U.S. Department of Justice in accordance with. written instructions to be 

provided to Defendant by the Financial Litigation Unit of the U.S. Attorney's Office for the 

Eastern District of Virginia, 101 West Main Street, Suite 8000; Norfolk, VA 23510. Such 

instruction may be obtained by contacting Ms.Oinger Swartworth at (757)441-6331 and/or· 

ginger.swartworth@usdoLgov. Before making the wire transfer, Defendant shall provide the 

following: name. of issuing bank from which the wire transfer is being made, contact person at the 

issuing bank, and the telephone number of the contact person at the issuing bank. At the time of its 

payment, Defendant shall send a copy ofthe EFT authorization form and the EFT transaction 

record, together with a transmittal letter, which shall state that the payment is for the civil penalty 

owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in United States 0/ America and Commonwealth o/Virginia 

9 
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v. Honeywell Resins & Chemicals LLC, and shall reference the assigned civil action number 

_____ --'and DOJ case number 90-5-2-1-09611, to the United States in accordance with 

Section XXII ofthis Decree (Notices), below; by email to acctsreceivable.CINWD@epa.gov: and 

by mail to: 

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 
26 Martin Luther King Drive 
Cincinnati, Ohio 45268 

Joan Dent 
EPA Region III 
1650 Arch Street (Mail Code 3ECOO) 
Philadelphia, P A 19103 

11. Defendant shall not deduct any penalties paid under this Decree pursuant to this 

Section or Section XVI of this Decree (Stipulated Penalties) in calculating its federal or state 

income tax . 

. V. AREA 9 NOx EMISSION REDUCTIONS, CONTROL AND TESTING 

12. Installation and Operation of NO x Emission Controls on First Two Towers in A, B 

or C Trains. No later than December 31, 2012, Honeywell shall complete installation oflow-

temperature Selective Catalytic Reduction ("SCR") technology on two towers in A, B or C Trains 

in Area 9 of the Hopewell Facility. As soon as practicable, but in no event later than June 30, 

2013, Honeywell shall continuously operate the new low-temperature SCR technology on these 

two towers and achieve and maintain the following emission rates and control efficiency for these 

two towers as described in Paragraph 16 below. 

13. Installation and Operation of NO x Emission Controls on the Second Two Towers in 

A, B or C Trains. No later than December 31, 2014, Honeywell shall complete installation of low-

temperature SCR technology on two more towers in A, B or C Trains in Area 9 of the Hopewell 
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Facility. As soon as practicable, but in no event later than June 30, 2015, Honeywell shall 

continuously operate the new low-temperature SCR technology on these two towers and achieve 

and maintain the emission rates and control efficiency for these two towers as described in 

Paragraph 16 below. 

14. Installation and Operation of NO x Emission Controls on the Last Two Towers in A, 

B or C Trains. No later than December 31, 2016, Honeywell shall complete installation of low­

temperature SCR technology on the last two towers in A, B or C Trains in Area 9 of the Hopewell 

Facility. As soon as practicable, but in no event laterthan June 30, 2017, Honeywell shall 

continuously operate the new low-temperature SCR technology on these two towers and achieve 

and maintain the emission rates and control efficiency for these two towers, as described in 

Paragraph 16 below. 

15. Installation and Operation of NO x Emission Controls on the Two Towers in E 

Train. No later than December 31, 2018, Honeywell shall complete installation of low-temperature 

SCR technology on the two towers in E Train in Area 9 of the Hopewell Facility. As soon as 

practicable, but in no event later than June 30, 2019, Honeywell shall continuously operate the new 

low-temperature SCR technology on these two towers and achieve and maintain the emission rates 

and control efficiency for these towers as described in Paragraph 16 below. 

16. Honeywell shall continuously operate the low-temperature SCR at each tower in A, 

B, C and E Trains in Area 9 at all times that the towers the low-temperature SCR serves are in 

operation, consistent with the manufacturers' specifications and good engineering and maintenance 

practices for minimizing emissions to the extent practicable. Except during periods of Startup or 

Malfunction, the SCR on each tower shall achieve a minimum NOx emission control efficiency of 

11 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2   Filed 03/28/13   Page 15 of 60 PageID# 44

95%. Except during periods of Startup, NOx emissions from the towers shall not exceed the Short 

Term emission rates (in pounds per hour) specified in Table l6a below by the applicable date for 

each tower specified in Paragraphs 12, 13, 14 or 15 above. During Startup, as defmed in 

Paragraph 7, except for Scenario 1 described below and for E Train during Scenario 2, NOx 

emissions shall not exceed the Short Term emission rate of200 lbslhour. For Scenario 1 and for E 

Train during Scenario 2, NOx emissions during Startup shall not exceed the Short Term emission 

rates for each tower specified in Table l6a below. All NOx emissions, including NOx emissions 

during Startup, Shut Down and Malfunction, shall be included in determining compliance with the 

Long Term NOx emission rates specified for each tower in Table l6b below. NOx emissions from 

the Trains in Area 9 shall not exceed the Long Term emission rates (in tons per year) specified in 

the Table l6b below by the applicable date for each Train specified in Paragraphs 12, 13, 14 or 15 . 

above. The Operating Scenarios depicted in Table l6a and l6b are as follows: 

Operating Scenario 1: before installation of the SCRs on A, B or C Train and before installation 
of the SCRs on E Train; 

Operating Scenario 2: after installation of the SCRs on A, B or C Train but before installation of 
the SCRs on E Train; 

Operating Scenario 3: after installation of the SCRs on A, B or C Train and after installation of the 
SCRs on E Train. 

Table l6a: NOx Short Term emission rates (pounds per hour) 

Train/tower Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 
. 

A nitrite TW-2 781.0 47.0 47.0 

A disulfonate TW-62 500.0 27.0 27.0 

B nitrite TW-8 853.0 51.0 51.0 

B disulfonate TW-9 500.0 27.0 27.0 

12 
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. 

C nitrite TW-17 900.0 54.0 54.0 

C disulfonate TW -18 500.0 27.0 27.0 
. 

E nitrite TW-32 240.0 240.0 13.0 

E disulfonate TW-33 300.0 300.0 16.0 

Table 16b: NOx Long Term emission rates (tons per year) 

Train Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 

A 2917 185 204 

B 2936 186 207 

C 2412 160 174 

E 1200 1200 65 

17. Performance testing of low-temperature SCR on A, B, C and E Trains: Within one 

hundred eighty (180) Days ofthe installation of the low-temperature SCR on the towers in A, B, C 

and E Trains, as specified in Paragraphs 12, 13, 14 and 15, Honeywell shall conduct an initial 

performance test and shall conduct any periodic tests that may be required by EPA and V ADEQ 

under applicable regulatory authority. Honeywell shall conduct the initial performance test and any 

subsequent testing in accordance with Methods 1-4 and Method 7E of 40 CFR Part 60. Within 

sixty (60) Days of performance testing, Honeywell shall report the results to EPA and VADEQ. 

VI. AREA 9 CEMS INSTALLATION AND OPERATION 

18. Honeywell shall replace the existing EMCAMS, as defined in Paragraph 7 above, 

with the installation, operation and maintenance of NO x CEMS on each of the nitrite and 

disulfonate towers on Trains A, B and C (i.e., Towers TW-2, TW-8, TW-17, TW-62, TW-9 and 

13 
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TW-18). Following installation of the NOx CEMS, data retrieved from the NOx CEMs shall be 

used as the method for determining compliance with the Short Term emission limits and the 95 

percent control requirement on a three (3) hour rolling average. All three (3) hour rolling averages 

must be reported quarterly in the excess emission report. 

19. Installation of NO x CEMS. Honeywell shall install, certifY, calibrate, maintain arid 

operate two NOx CEMS on each of Towers TW-2, TW-8, TW-17, TW-62, TW-9 and TW-18 (one 

on the inlet and one on the outlet of each low-temperature SCRinstallation) and one NOx CEMS 

on each of Towers TW -32 and TW-33 (on the inlet of each low-temperature SCR installation) in 

accordance with the manufacturer's specifications and the applicable performance specification(s) 

in 40 C.F.R. Part 60 on the following schedule: 

Tower NOx CEMS Installation Deadline 
1 st and 2na towers June 30, 2013 
3m and 4ID towers June 30, 2015 
5ID and 6ID towers June 30, 2017 
TW-32 (inlet) and TW-33 (inlet) June 30, 2019 

20. Performance of Relative Accuracy Test Audits ("RATAs"). Honeywell must 

conduct a RATA on each CEMS (including the existing CEMS on the towers in Trains D and E) 

initially on the date of the required performance test specified in Paragraph 17, and at least once 

per year in accordance with Part 60 Appendices A and F, and Performance Specification 2 and 3 of 

40 C.F.R. Part 60 Appendix B. Honeywell must conduct Cylinder Gas Audits each calendar 

quarter during the time that any RATA is not performed. Nothing in this Paragraph shall affect any 

more stringent State or local monitoring requirements. 

VII. AREA 9 PM AND OPACITY TESTING AND MONITORING 

21. Within twenty-four (24) months of the effective date of this Consent Decree, 

14 
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Honeywell shall conduct particulate matter ("PM") and opacity performance testing on Towers 

TW-2, TW-S, TW-17, TW~22, TW-23, TW-62, TW-9, TW-IS, TW-32, and TW-33 to determine 

compliance with the control efficiency and emission limit requirements established in the Title V 

Permit and summarized in the table below in this Paragraph, and the opacity requirements 

established in Article I of 9 V AC 5 Chapter 40 of Virginia's regulations. The PM and opacity 

performance testing shall be performed in accordance with Part 60 Appendix A, Methods I - 5, 9 

and 201, unless Honeywell requests in writing, and EPA and V ADEQ approve in writing, another 

test method. During each performance test, Honeywell shall continuously monitor the scrubber 

pressure drop and scrubber liquid flow to establish operating parameter ranges to ensure 

continuous compliance with the control efficiency and emissionlimit requirements established in 

the Title V Permit and the opacity limits established in Article I of 9 V AC 5 Chapter 40 of 

Virginia'S regulations. Honeywell shall submit, for approval by VADEQ, in consultation with 

EPA, the PM and Opacity Emission Testing Reports for each tower identified below no later than 

sixty (60) Days after the completion ofthe emissions test for that source. In the PM Emissions 

Testing Report for towers equipped with a particulate matter control device (i.e.,TW-S, TW-22, 

TW-32, TW-62, TW-9, TW-1S, TW-23 and TW-33), Honeywell shall (a) calculate the mass PM 

emission flow rate at the inlet and outlet of the tower's associated control device, and (b ) propose 

scrubber pressure drop and scrubber liquid flow values for the associated control device that will 

ensure that it meets the emissions limits and opacity limits. For the towers not equipped with 

particulate matter control devices (i.e., TW-2 and TW-17), Honeywell shall (a) calculate the mass 

PM emission flow rate at the outlet of the tower and (b) propose process operating parameter 

values that will ensure that the tower meets the emission limits established in the Title V permit. 
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The PM and Opacity Emissions Testing Report shall include, at a minimum, all test results, 

operating data, calibration data, chains of custody, all equations used, and assumptions made 

calculating Honeywell's proposed parameter. 

Tower Total Total PM-lO Permit PM-lO PM Control 
Suspended Suspended Limit Permit Limit Efficiency Permit 
Particulates Particulates (poundslhour) (tons per Requirement (%) 
Limit Limit (tons year) 
(poundslhour) per year) 

TW-2 11.1 32.0 4.0 11.5 
TW-8 3.8 12.0 1.9 6.0 90 
TW-17 21.2 76.2 7.6 27.4 
TW-22 3.8 12.0 1.9 6.0 90 
TW-32 3.8 . 12.0 1.9 6.0 90 
TW-62 1.2 4.5 1.2 4.5 98 
TW-9 1.2 4.5 1.2 4.5 98 
TW-18 1.2 4.5 1.2 4.5 
TW-23 1.2 4.5 1.2 4.5 
TW-33 1.6 4.5 1.6 4.5 98 

VIII. ENHANCED LEAK DETECTION AND REPAIR 

22. Enhanced Leak Detection and Repair. In addition to compliance with applicable 

leak detection and repair program requirements under the HON, NSPS VV, the RACT agreement 

and tjIe Title V Permit, Honeywell shall implement and comply with the requirements of the 

Enhanced Leak Detection and Repair Plan ("ELP") as set forth in Appendix A to this Consent 

Decree. 

IX. BENZENE WASTE NESHAP AUDIT 

23. Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP AuditRequirements. Honeywell shall complete 

the measures set forth in this Section to ensure compliance with all applicable requirements of 40 

C.F.R. Part 61 Subpart FF ("Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP" or "Subpart FF"). 
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24. Statement of Work. No later than ninety (90) Days after the Effective Date of this 

Decree, Honeywell shall submit to EPA for approval, in consultation with V ADEQ, a Statement of 

Work for the Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP audit required by this Section. 

25. One-Time Review and Determination of Honeywell's TAB. Within ninety (90) 

Days after approval of the Statement of Work by EPA, Honeywell shall enter into a contract with a 

third-party to conduct an independent audit of the Facility's compliance with the Benzene Waste 

Operations NESHAP. The third-party audit shall include, but not be limited to: I) identification of 

each waste stream to be included in the calculation of its TAB (e.g., oil-water separator discharge, 

maintenance wastes, turnaround wastes, scrubber blowdown, parts cleaning wastes, process dryer 

condensates, wastes, oils, etc.), 2) a review of the calculations and/or measurements used to 

determine flows of each waste stream and an identification of the benzene concentration in each 

waste stream (based on sampling for benzene concentration at no less than 10 waste streams), 

including an explanation of the range of flows and benzene concentrations for each waste stream, 

and 3) a determination of whether or not the stream is controlled in accordance with the 

requirements of Subpart FF. All benzene sampling shall be conducted in accordance with the test 

methodology de·scribed in 40 C.F.R § 61.355( c)(3)(iv), unless Honeywell requests in writing and 

EPA approves in writing another test method with lower detection limits where warranted, based 

on the sampling results or sample material. 

26. Submission of Third-Party Audit Report. Within one hundred eighty (180) Days of 

EPA's approval of the Statement of Work, Honeywell shall submit to EPA for approval, with a 

copy to VADEQ, a report that sets forth the results of the third-party audit ofthe Facility's 

compliance with the Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP Audit (the "Third-Party Audit Report" 
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or "Report"). This Report shall include a detennination of the Facility's TAB. Based on EPA's 

review of the Report, EPA may select up to twenty (20) additional waste streams for sampling of' 

benzene concentration (Phase 2 sampling). Honeywell's third party contractor shall conduct the 

required additional sampling and Honeywell shall submit the results to EPA and V ADEQ within 

ninety (90) Days of receipt of EPA's requirement. All benzene sampling shall be conducted in 

accordance with the test methodology described in 40 C.F.R § 61.355(c)(3)(iv), unless Honeywell 

requests in writing and EPA approves in writing another test method with lower detection limits 

where warranted, based on the sampling results or sample materiaL The results of any such 

additional sampling shall be used to reevaluate the TAB and the uncontrolled benzene quantity and 

to ainend the Third-Party Audit Report, as appropriate. Honeywell shall submit to EPA and 

V ADEQ a revised Third-Party Audit Report including a revised TAB calculation within one 

hundred twenty (120) Days following the completion of the Phase 2 sampling. 

27. Actionsto Implement Third-Party Audit Report. If the results of the Third-Party 

Audit Report indicate that Honeywell has aT ABover 10 Mg/yr, Honeywell shall submit; within 

one hundred twenty (120) Days after completion of the Report, an implementation plan to EPA 

and V ADEQ. The implementation plan is subject to EPA approval, in consultation with V ADEQ, 

and shall identify the actions that Honeywell shall to take, and the schedule for those actions, to 

ensure that the Facility's TAB is below 10 Mg/yr for each calendar year following completion of 

the Audit Report. If Honeywell demonstrates to EPA's satisfaction that it is technically infeasible 

to achieve and maintain a TAB of no greater than 10 Mg/yr, then Honeywell shall implement and 

maintain controls within one (1) year of EPA's approval ofthe implementation plan to comply 

with the requirements of 40 C.F.R Part 61, Subpart FF. 
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X. MISCELLANEOUS OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MEASURES 

28. Control and Monitoring DeviCe Preventative Maintenance and Operations Plans. 

Within one hundred twenty (120) Days after the Effective Date of this Decree, Honeywell shall 

submit for approval to EPA, in consultation with V ADEQ, a Preventative Maintenance and 

Operation Plan ("PMO Plan"). The PMO Plan shall consist of a compilation of Honeywell's 

procedures for good air pollution control practices and minimizing emissions. The PMO Plan shall 

have as its goals the elimination of process and control device malfunctions of the low temperature 

SCRs, scrubbers, NOx Abatement Technology, CEMs and CMSs in Area 9. The PMO Plan shall 

include, but not be limited to, startup and shutdown procedures, emergency procedures, and 

schedules for preventative maintenance and maintenance turnarounds that coincide with scheduled 

turnarounds of major process units. The PMO shall ensure that Honeywell is prepared to correct 

malfunctions as soon as practicable to minimize emissions. To ensure that malfunctions are 

minimized, the PMO shall include a procedure for conducting a "Root Cause Analysis" for 

malfunctioning process, air. pollution and control and monitoring equipmentthat would result in 

NOx emissions from Area 9 in excess of allowable limits for more than one hour. The PMO Plan 

shall include a procedure for conducting a Root Cause Analysis for any particular component of a 

CEMS or CMS which component exhibits three (3) or more unscheduled failures resulting in 

down time greater than one (1) hour each in any calendar quarter. This Root Cause Analysis shall 

set forth all significant contributing causes to the excess emissions and shall provide analysis of the 

measures available to reduce the likelihood of a recurrence. If more than one alternative exists to 

address the Root Cause, the analysis shall discuss the alternatives, the probable effectiveness and 

the cost of the alternatives. The analysis shall evaluate possible design, operation and maintenance 
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changes. Honeywell shall implement its approved PMO Plan, as may be updated in accordance 

with this paragraph 28, at all times, including periods of startup, shutdown and malfunction of its 

process units, control devices, CEMs, and CMSs. Honeywell shall review its PMO annually and 

update its PMO, as necessary, to incorporate, at a minimum, the results of any Root Cause 

Analysis. Honeywell shall maintain the original PMO Plan and all subsequent revisions at the 

Facility for a period of five (5) years and have them available for review by the Agencies. 

29. Air Pollution Control Practices. Honeywell shall, at all times and to the extent 

practicable, including periods of startup, shutdown, and/or malfunction, implement good air 

pollution control practices to minimize emissions from their control devices. 

30. Periods of Non-Operation. From the Effective Date of this Decree, Honeywell shall 

keep a written record of all periods of startups, shutdowns, malfunctions, non-operation, bypasses 

of control devices and repairs for each process unit, control device, and monitoring system 

addressed in the PMO Plan. Such records shall include the times and duration of each event, a 

brief description of the event, the cause or likely cause of the event, and any actions taken to 

minimize excess emissions during the event, and whether the event and Honeywell's actions were 

consistent with the Preventative Maintenance and Operation Plans required by Paragraph 28 

above. In addition, such records shall also include a record of the calibration checks and low- and 

high-level adjustments for each control device and monitoring system. Honeywell shall maintain 

such records for at least five (5) years from the date of any such event and shall produce to EPA 

and V ADEQ upon request. 

XI. PERMITS 

31. The requirements of this Consent Decree shall be incorporated into a new source 
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review permit and the Title V Permit for the Facility in accordance with applicable Virginia New 

Source Review and Title V rules before the termination of this Consent Decree . 

. 32. Construction Permits. Honeywell shall obtain all required, federally enforceable 

permits for the construction of the pollution control technology and/or the installation of 

equipment necessary to implement the requirements of this Consent Decree. 

XII. PROIDBITION OF NETTING CREDITS OR OFFSETS FROM REOUIRED 
CONTROLS 

33. Summary. This Section addresses the use of the emissions reductions, which will 

result from the installation and operation ofthe emission controls required by this Consent Decree 

("CD Emissions Reductions"), for the purpose of emissions netting or emissions offsets. 

34. General Prohibition. Honeywell shall not use any NOx, PM, PM-I0, PM-2.5 or 

VOC emission reductions that result from the installation and operation of the SCRs required by 

this Consent Decree, any actions required under Paragraph 27 (BWON), and the implementation of 

the Enhanced LDAR program set forth in Appendix A as netting reductions or emissions offsets in 

any PSD, major non-attainment, and/or synthetic minor New Source Review permit or permit 

proceeding, nor shall Honeywell obtain any emission reduction credits for such reductions. 

35. Exception to General Prohibition. Upon installation of SCRs on A, B, and C 

Trains, Honeywell may increase production at each Train to a level not to· exceed 39 tons per year 

of NO x per train, not considering reductions achieved by the SCRs. Upon installation of an SCR 

on E Train, Honeywell may increase production to the full level provided for in the June 28, 2011, 

"Stationary Source Phased Construction Permit, New Source Performance Standards Permit, 

Permit to Construct, Reconstruct, ModifY and Operate" issued by V ADEQ (Registration No. 

50232; County-Plant No. 670-002). To meet the production limitation provided for in the June 28, 
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2011 permit, Honeywell shall comply with the limits set forth in Tables 16a and 16b above. 

Honeywell's use of any emission reductions resulting from the installation of low temperature 

SCRs on A, B, C.and E trains in Area 9 of the Facility required by this Consent Decree and 

undertaken in connection with the June 28, 2011 permit as netting credits shall be limited to use as 

netting credits only for purposes of the June 28, 2011 permit, and thereafter, no longer available 

for any purpose. 

36. Outside the Scope ofthe General Prohibition. Nothing in this Consent Decree is 

intended to prohibit Honeywell from st)eking to: 

a. use or generate netting reductions or emission offset credits from Facility units 

that are covered by this Consent Decree to the extent that the proposed netting reductions or 

emission offset credits represent the difference between the numeric emissions limitations set 

forth in or established pursuant to this Consent Decree for such Facility units and the more 

stringent numeric emissions limitations that Honeywell may elect to accept for those Facility units 

in a permitting process; 

b. use or generate netting reductions or emission offset credits for Facility units 

that are not subject to an emission limitation pursuant to this Consent Decree; or 

c. use CD Emission Reductions for Honeywell's compliance with any rules or 

regulations designed to address regional haze or the non-attainment status of any area (excluding 

PSD and Non-Attainment New Source Review rules) that apply to Honeywell; provided, however, 

that Honeywell may not trade or sell any CD Emission Reductions. 
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XIII. ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION 

37. On and after the effective date of this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall operate 

only Tier III diesel switcher locomotives, or replacement locomotives that emit NOx (on a gmlbhp 

basis) equal to or less than Tier III standards, at the Facility. 

38. Honeywell shall not seek to obtain any netting or offset credit under any state or 

federal program for emissions reductions from the purchase and use of Tier III locomotives at the 

Facility. 

39. Honeywell shall certify, within thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date of this 

Consent Decree that Honeywell was not otherwise required by law to replace the two diesel 

switchers at the Hopewell Facility with Tier III low emission diesel switchers, that Honeywell is 

unaware of any other person who was required by law to purchase the low emission diesel 

switchers for the Hopewell Facility, and that Honeywell will not use any aspect of that purchase, 

or portion thereof, to satisfy any obligations that itmay have under other applicable requirements 

oflaw. 

XIV. APPROVAL OF DELIVERABLES 

40. After review of any plan, report, or other item that is required to be submitted for 

approval pursuant to this Consent Decree, the approving government agency or agencies, after 

consultation with the other government agency, shall in writing: a) request additional information 

to enable EPA and V ADEQ to adequately evaluate the submittal; b) approve the submission; c) 

approve the submission upon specified conditions; d) approve part of the submission and 

disapprove the remainder; or e) disapprove the submission. 

41. In the event that EPA or VADEQ requests additional information, Honeywell shall 
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provide the additional information to EPA and V ADEQ in accordance with the time frames set 

forth in the request. Honeywell may request additional time in writing. 

42. If the submission is approved, Honeywell shall take all actions required by the plan, 

report, or other document, in accordance with the schedules and requirements of this Decree, or if 

not specified in this Decree, the schedule and requirements in the approved submission. 

43. If the submission is conditionally approved or approved only in part, Honeywell 

shall, upon written notice from the approving govermnental agency, take all actions required by 

the approved plan, report, or other item that the approving govermnental agency, after consultation 

with the other govermnental agency, determines are technically severable from any disapproved 

portions, subject to Honeywell's right to dispute only the specified conditions or the disapproved 

portions, under Section XVIII of this Decree (Dispute Resolution). 

44. If the submission is disapproved in whole or in part, Honeywell shall, within forty-

five (45) Days or such other time as Honeywell, EPA, and VADEQ agree to in writing, correct all 

deficiencies and resubmit the plan, report, or other item, or disapproved portion thereof, for 

approval in accordance with this Section. If the resubmission is approved in whole or in part, 

Honeywell shall proceed in accordance with this Section. 

45. Any stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission, as provided in 

Section XVI (Stipulated Penalties), below, shall accrue during the forty-five (45) Day period or 

other specified period, but shall not be payable unless the resubmission is untimely or is 

disapproved in whole or in part; provided that, if the original submission was, as determined by 

EPA, so deficient as to constitute a material breach of Honeywell' sobligations under this Decree, 

the stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission shall be due and payable 

24 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2   Filed 03/28/13   Page 28 of 60 PageID# 57

notwithstanding any subsequent resubmission. 

46. If a resubmitted plan, report, or other item, or portion thereof, is disapproved in 

whole or in part, the approving goverrnnentaI agency, after consultation with the other 

goverrnnental agency, may again require Honeywell to correct any deficiencies, in accordance 

with this Section, subject to Honeywell's right to invoke Dispute Resolution and the right of EPA 

and Virginia to seek stipulated penalties as provided in this Section. 

47. Nothing in this Section or this Decree, including any reference to consultation, shall 

limit EPA's rights under the law to review, comment on, oversee or veto any proposed permit, 

permit modifications, or other action taken by a delegated permitting authority under the Act. 

48. In the event that EPA and V ADEQ impose inconsistent obligations upon 

Honeywell under. this Consent Decree that make it impossible for Honeywell to comply with all 

obligations ofthe responses, then Honeywell shall notifY EPA and V ADEQ, who shall endeavor to 

resolve any inconsistency. If they are unable to resolve such inconsistency, then EPA's response 

shall control as to the specific inconsistent obligation. During this period, Honeywell's obligation 

under the. Consent Decree to comply with the respective goverrnnentagencies' responses shall be 

stayed only to the extent of the specific inconsistent obligation. However, if EPA's or VADEQ's 

responses are only inconsistent in that one response imposes additional and/or more stringent 

requirements, Honeywell shall comply with the additional and/or more stringent requirements. 

XV. REPORTING REOUIREMENTS - CONSENT DECREE 

49. Honeywell shall submit the following reports documenting its progress in 

complying with the requirements of this Consent Decree: 

a. Within thirty (30) Days after the end of the second and fourth calendar quarters 
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after the date of entry ofthis Consent Decree, until termination of this Decree pursuant to Section 

XXVI (Termination), below, Honeywell shall submit to EPA and V ADEQ by email a written 

semi-annual report that shall include for the reporting period: 1) the status of the compliance 

measures identified in Sections V - XIII of this Consent Decree; 2) a detailed description of any 

problems encountered or anticipated, together with implemented or proposed solution; 3) the status 

of permit applications or modifications; and 4)a description of any change that is not authorized 

by permit or regulation and would result in a significant increase in emissions from Area 9 of the 

Facility as defined in 40 C.F.R. 52.21(b)(23) and 40 C.F.R. 51.165(a)(1)(x), as may be applicable 

to the Facility. 

b. The semi-annual report shall also include a description of any non-compliance 

with the requirements of this Consent Decree and an explanation of the likely cause of the non­

compliance and of the remedial steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such non­

compliance. If Honeywell violates, or has reason to believe that it may violate, any requirement of 

this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall notify the United States and V ADEQ of such violation and 

its likely duration, in writing, within ten (10) Days of the date Honeywell first becomes aware of 

the violation, with an explanation of the violation's likely cause and of the remedial steps taken, or 

to be taken, to prevent or minimize such violation. If the cause of a violation cannot be fully 

explained at the time the report is due, Honeywell shall so state in the report. Honeywell shall 

investigate the cause of the violation and shall then submit an amendment to the report, including a 

full explanation of the cause of the violation, within thirty (30) Days of the day Honeywell 

becomes aware of the cause of the violation. Nothing in this Paragraph 49.b. or the following 

Paragraph 50 relieves Honeywell of its obligation to provide the notice required by Section XVII 
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of this Consent Decree (Force Majeure). 

50. Whenever any event affecting Honeywell's performance under this Decree or the 

performance of its Facility may pose an immediate threat to the public health or welfare or the 

environment, Honeywell shall notify EPA and V ADEQ orally or by electronic or facsimile 

transmission as soon as possible, but no later than twenty-four (24) hours after Honeywell fIrst 

knew that the violation or event may pose such a threat. This obligation is in addition to the 

requirements set forth in the preceding Paragraph. Nothing in Paragraphs 49 or 50 of this Consent 

Decree shall be construed to affect any obligation or requirement of Honeywell under Virginia's 

regulations. 

51. AIl reports shall be submitted to the persons and addresses designated in Section 

XXII of this Consent Decree (Notices). 

52. Each report submitted by Honeywell under this Section shall be signed by an 

authorized official of the submitting party and include the following certifIcation: 

I certify under penalty of law that this docnment and all attachments were prepared under my 

direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualifIed personnel 

properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or 

persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the 

information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, 

and complete. I am aware that there are signifIcant penalties for submitting false information, 

including the possibility of fIne and imprisonment for knowing violations. 

This certifIcation requirement does not apply to emergency or similar notifIcations where 

compliance would be impractical. 
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53. The reporting requirements of this Consent Decree do not relieve Honeywell of any 

reporting obligations required by the Clean Air Act or implementing regulations, or by any other 

federal, state, or local law, regulation, permit, or other requirement. 

54. Any information provided pursuant to this Consent Decree may be used by the 

United States or Virginia in any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and 

as otherwise permitted by law. 

XVI. STIPULATED PENALTIES 

55. Honeywell shall be liable for stipulated penalties to the United States and Virginia 

for violations of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless excused under Section XVII 

(Force Majeure). A violation includes failing to perform any obligation required by the terms of 

this Decree, including any submittal or schedule approved under this Decree, according to all 

applicable requirements of this Decree and within the specified time schedules established by or 

approved under this Decree. 

56. Late Payment of Civil Penalty 

If the Defendant fails to pay the civil penalties required to be paid under Section IV 

of this Decree (Civil Penalty) when due, the Defendant shall pay a stipulated penalty of$5,000 per 

Day for each day that the payrnent is late. 

a. Compliance Measures (other than the ELP, which is addressed in Paragraph 58, 

below). The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for each violation of 

the remaining requirements identified in Sections V - XI, above, except for the reporting and 

written submission requirements which are addressed in Paragraph 56.c., and those indicated 

below: 
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Penalty Per Violation Per Day 

$1,500 

$2,000 

$2,500 

Period of Noncompliance 

1st through 14th Day 

15th through 30th Day 

31st Day and beyond 

b. Non-Compliance with Requirement to Implement Environmental Mitigation: 

For failure by the Defendant to operate only Tier III diesel switcher locomotives, or 

replacement locomotives, as required by Section XIII (Environmental Mitigation) of this Consent 

Decree: 

Failure to Operate Penalty per day 

1st through 14th Day of Non-Compliance $1,500 

15th through 30th Day of Non-Compliance $2,000 

31 st Day and beyond $2,500 

c. Written Submissions and Reporting Requirements. 

The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for each 

violation of the reporting requirements of Section XV (Reporting Requirements -Consent Decree), 

above, and for each written submission by Honeywell under Sections II, V - XI, above, that is 

untimely or deficient: 

Penalty Per Violation Per Day 

$500 

$1,500 

Period of Noncompliance 

1st through 30th Day 

31 st Day and beyond 

57. Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the Day after 
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perfonnance is due or on the Day a violation occurs, whichever is applicable, and shall continue to 

accrue until perfonnance is satisfactorily completed or until the violation ceases. Stipulated 

penalties shall accrue simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree. 

58. Enhanced LDAR Program ("ELP"): The following stipulated penalties shall accrue 

per violatiori per Day unless otherwise specified below, for each violation of a requirement of the 

ELP as set forth in Section VIII of this Consent Decree (Enhanced LDAR) and Appendix A as 

specified below: (a.) Failure to develop a timely and complete written facility-wide LDAR 

Program Plan under Paragraph 3 of Appendix A: $3,500 per week of noncompliance. (b.}Failure 

to timely monitor in accord with Part B (when more frequent periodic monitoring is required) of 

Appendix A of any Covered Equipment: $100 per component perday but no more than $10,000 

per month per Covered Process Unit. (c.) Failure to conduct monitoring and inspections in accord 

with Part C or D of Appendix A: $100 per component per day but no more than $10,000 per month 

per Covered Process Unit. (d.) Failure to conduct repair ofleaks or otherwise comply with leak 

repair requirements in accord with Parts E and F of Appendix A: $200 per leak per day of 

noncompliance. (e.) Failure to timely prepare the Equipment ImprovementlReplacement Program 

and timely update the Program, and timely submit the Program Report as required under Part G of 

Appendix A: $15,000 per month of noncompliance. (f.) Failure to timely replace.equipment as 

required under Part G of Appendix A: $3,000 per piece ofLDAR covered equipment per day. (g.) 

Failure to incorporate the equipment changes identified in the Facility-wide Management of 

Change protocol in accord with Part H of Appendix A, failure to implementtraining in accord with 

Part I of Appendix A, and failure to comply with the requirements of Part J of Appendix A: 

$10,000 per violation per month of noncompliance. (h.) Failure to complete the requirements of 
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Part K (LDAR Audits and Corrective Action) in accord with the requirements of Appendix A: 

$7,500 per violation per month of noncompliance. 

59. Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties to the United States and Virginia within 

thirty (30) Days 'of a written demand by either Plaintiff. Defendant shall pay 50 percent of the total 

stipulated penalty amount due to the United States and 50 percent to Virginia. The Plaintiff 

making a demand for payment of a stipulated penalty shall simultaneously send a copy of the 

demand to the other Plaintiff. 

60. Either Plaintiff may, in the unreviewable exercise of their discretion, reduce or 

waive its prospective stipulated penalties otherwise due it under this Consent Decree. 

61. Stipulated penalties shall continue to accrue as provided in Paragraph 55 during any 

Dispute Resolution, but need not be paid until the following: 

a. If the dispute is resolved by agreement or by a decision of EPA or Virginia that 

is not appealed to the Court, the Defendant shall pay accrued penalties determined to be owing, 

together with interest, to the United States or Virginia within forty-five (45) Days of the effective 

date of the agreement or the receipt of EPA's or Virginia'S decision or order. 

b. If the dispute is appealed to the Court and the United States or Virginia prevails, 

the Defendant shall pay all accrued penalties determined by the Court to be owing, together with 

interest, within sixty (60) Days of receiving the Court's decision or order, except as provided in 

subparagraph c, below. 

c. If any Party appeals the District Court's decision and the United States or 

Virginia prevails, the Defendant shall pay all accrued penalties determined to be owed, together 

with interest, within thirty (30) Days of receiving the final appellate court decision. 
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62. Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties owing to the United States and Virginia in 

the manner set forth and with the confrrmation notices required by Section XXII, below, except 

that the transmittal letter shall state that the payment is for stipulated penalties and shall specify the 

violation(s) for which the penalties are being paid. 

63. If Defendant fails to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this Consent 

Decree, Defendant shall be liable for interest on such penalties, as provided for in 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1961, accruing as of the date payment became due. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed 

to limit the United States or Virginia from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for 

Defendant's failure to pay any stipulated penalties. 

64. Subject to the provisions of Section XX (Effect of SettlementlReservation of 

Rights), below, the stipulated penalties provided for in this Consent Decree shall be in addition to 

any other rights, remedies, or sanctions available to the United States and/or Virginia for the 

. violations of this Consent Decree or applicable law. Where a violation of this Consent Decree is 

also a violation of the Clean Air Act, Defendant shall be allowed a credit, for any stipulated 

penalties paid, against any statutory penalties imposed for such violation. 

65. Affirmative Defense for Malfunctions. If Honeywell exceeds any NOx Short Term 

emission rate, as set forth in Table 16a, due to a Malfunction, Honeywell, bearing the burden of 

proof, has an affrrmative defense to stipulated penalties under this Consent Decree if Honeywell 

complies with the reporting requirements of Paragraph 66, and demonstrates all of the following: 

a. the excess emissions were caused by a sudden, unavoidable breakdown of 

technology, beyond Honeywell's control; 

b. the excess emissions (1) did not stem from any activity or event that could have 
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· been foreseen and avoided, or planned for, and (2) could not have been avoided by better operation 

and maintenance practices; 

c. to the maximum extent practicable, the air pollution control equipment and 

processes were maintained and operated in a manner consistent with good practice for minimizing 

emissIOns; 

d. repairs were made in an expeditious fashion when Honeywell knew or should 

have known that an applicable NOx Short Term emission rate was being or would be exceeded. 

Off-shift labor and overtime must have been utilized, to the greatest extent practicable, to ensure 

that such repairs were made as expeditiously as practicable; 

e. the amount and duration of the excess emissions (including any bypass) were 

minimized to the maximum extent practicable during periods of such emissions; 

f all possible steps were taken to minimize the impact of the excess emissions on 

ambient air quality; 

g. all emission monitoring systems were kept in operation if at all possible; 

h. Honeywell's actions in response to the excess emissions were documented by 

properly signed, contemporaneous operating logs, or other relevant evidence; 

i. the excess emissions were not part of a recurring pattern indicative of 

inadequate design, operation, or maintenance; and 

j. Honeywell properly and promptly notified EPA and V ADEQ as required by this 

Consent Decree. 

66. Honeywell shall provide notice to EPA and V ADEQ in writing of its intent to assert 

an affirmative defense for Malfunction under Paragraph 65 as soon as practicable, but in no event 
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later than twenty-one (21) Days following the date of the Malfunction. This notice shall be 

submitted to EPA and V ADEQ pursuant to Section XXII (Notices), shall include all information to 

demonstrate that Honeywell satisfies the criteria specified in Paragraph 65, above, and include all 

of the following information: 

a. the magnitude of the excess emissions (expressed in pounds per hour), as well 

as the % removal efficiency, and the underlying operating data and calculations used in 

determining both the magnitude of the excess emissions and the % removal efficiency; 

b. the time and duration or expected duration ofthe excess emissions; 

c. the identity ofthe equipment from which the excess emissions emanated; 

d. the nature and cause of the Malfunction; 

e. the steps taken to remedy the Malfunction and the steps taken or plannedto 

prevent the recurrence of the Malfunction; 

f. the steps that were or are being taken to limit the excess emissions; and 

g. if Honeywell's permit contains procedures governing source operation during 

periods of Malfunction, a list of the steps taken to comply with the permit procedures. 

XVII. FORCE MAJEURE 

67. A "force majeure event," for purposes of this Consent Decree, is defined as. any 

event arising from causes beyond the control of Honeywell, or any entity controlled by Honeywell, 

or any of Honeywell's contractors, that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under 

this Consent Decree despite Honeywell's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. The requirement that 

Honeywell exercise "best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate 

any potential force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any such event (a) as it 
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is occurring and (b) after it has occurred, such that the delay and any adverse environmental effect 

of the delay or violation is minimized to the greatest extent possible. "Force majeure" does not 

include Defendant's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent Decree. 

68. Honeywell may seek relief under these Force Majeure provisions for any delay in 

the performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a delay in obtaining, 

any permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation if Honeywell has submitted timely and 

complete applications and has taken all other actions necessary to obtain such permit(s) or 

approval(s). 

69, If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any 

obligation under this Consent Decree, whether or not caused by a force majeure event, Honeywell 

shall provide: 

a. Notice orally or by electronic or facsimile transmission to EPA and V ADEQ, 

within 72 hours of when Honeywell first knew or should have known by the exercise of due 

diligence that the event might cause a delay. 

b. An explanation and description in writing to EPA and V ADEQ within fifteen 

(15) Days after Honeywell first knew or should have known of the event by the exercise of due 

diligence, an explanation and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of 

the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for 

implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the 

delay; Honeywell's rationale for attributing such delay to a force majeure event if it intends to 

assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Honeywell, such event may 

cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment. Honeywell 

35 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2   Filed 03/28/13   Page 39 of 60 PageID# 68

shall include with any notice documentation in Honeywell's possession, custody, or control 

supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a force majeure event. Failure to comply 

with the above requirements shall preclude Honeywell from asserting any claim of force majeure 

for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply, and for any additional delay caused 

by such failure. Honeywell shall be deemed to know of any circumstance of which Honeywell, 

any entity controlled by Honeywell, or Honeywell's contractors knew or should have known. 

70. If both EPA and V ADEQ agree that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to 

a force majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that 

are affected by the force maj eure event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to 

complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected 

by the force majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other 

obligation. EPA will notify Honeywell in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for 

performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event. 

71. lfeither EPA or VADEQ do not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been 

or will be caused by aforce majeure event, EPA or V ADEQ will notify Honeywell in writing of its 

decision. 

72. If Honeywell elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section 

XVIII of this Decree (Dispute Resolution), it shall do so no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt 

of EPA and/or V ADEQ's notice. In any such proceeding, Honeywell shall have the burden of 

demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or 

will be caused by a force majeure event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was 

or will be warranted under the circumstances, that best efforts were exercised to avoid and mitigate 
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the effects of the delay, and that Honeywell complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 74 and 

. .15, below. If Honeywell prevails in the dispute, the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a 

violation by Honeywell of the affected obligation of this Consent Decree identified to Plaintiff s 

and the Court. 

XVIII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

73. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, the dispute 

resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes arising 

under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Honeywell's failure to seek resolution of a dispute 

under this Section shall preclude Honeywell from raising any such issue as a defense to an action 

by the United States or Virginia to enforce any obligation of Honeywell arising under this l)e<;ree. 

74. Informal Dispute Resolution. Any dispute subject to Dispute Resolution under this 

Consent Decree shall first be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered 

to have arisen when Honeywell sends the United States, EPA, and Virginia a written Notice of 

Dispute. Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute. Theperiod of informal 

negotiations shall not exceed sixty (60) Days from the date the dispute arises, unless that period is 

modified by written agreement. If the Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, 

then the position advanced by the United States, in consultation with V ADEQ, shall be considered 

binding unless, within thirty (30) Days after EPA provides Honeywell with EPA's written position, 

Honeywell invokes formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below. 

75. Formal Dispute Resolution. Honeywell shall invoke formal dispute resolution 

procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph, by serving on the United 

States and Virginia a written Statement of Position regarding the matter in dispute. The Statement 
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of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion 

supporting Honeywell's position and any supporting documentation relied upon by the company. 

76. The United States, in consultation with Virginia, shall serve its Statement of 

Position within forty-five (45) Days of receipt of Honeywell's Statement of Po siti one The United 

States' Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or 

opinion supporting that position and any supporting documentation relied upon by the United 

States. The United States' Statement of Position shall be binding on the company, unless 

Honeywell files a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with the following 

Paragraph. 

77. Honeywell may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Court and 

serving on the United States and Virginia a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. 

The motion must be filed within forty-five (45) Days of receipt of the United States' Statement of 

Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of 

Honeywell's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, 

opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which 

the dispute must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent Decree. 

78. The United States, in consultation with Virginia, shall respond to Honeywell's 

motion within the time period allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Honeywell may file a 

reply memorandum, to the extent permitted by the Local Rules. 

79. Standard of Review 

a. Disputes Conceming Matters Accorded Record Review. Except as otherwise 

provided in this Consent Decree, in any dispute brought under Paragraph 75, above, pertaining to 

38 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2   Filed 03/28/13   Page 42 of 60 PageID# 71

the adequacy or appropriateness of plans, procedures to implement plans, schedules or any other 

items requiring approval by EPA under this Consent Decree; the adequacy of the performance of 

work undertaken pursuant to this Consent Decree; and all other disputes that are accorded review 

on the administrative record under applicable principles of administrative law, Honeywell shall 

have the burden of demonstrating, based on the administrative record, that the position of the 

United States is arbitrary and capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law. 

b. Other Disputes. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any 

other dispute brought under Paragraph 75, above, Honeywell shall bear the burden of 

demonstrating that its position is consistent with this Consent Decree and furthers the objectives of 

the Consent Decree more than the position of EPA and/or Virginia. 

80. The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section shall not, by 

itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of Honeywell under this Consent 

Decree, unless and until final resolution of the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with 

respect to the disputed matter shall continue to accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but 

payment shall be stayed pending resolution of the dispute as provided in Paragraph 61 above. If 

Honeywell does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be assessed and paid as 

provided in Section XVI (Stipulated Penalties), above. 

XIX. INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION 

81. The United States, Virginia, and their representatives, including attorneys, 

contractors, and consultants, shall have the right of entry into any facility covered by this Consent 

Decree,at all reasonable times, upon presentation of credentials, to: 

a. monitor the progress of activities required under this Consent Decree; 
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b. verify any data or information submitted to the United States or Virginia in 

accordance with the terms of this Consent Decree; 

c.obtain samples and, upon request, splits of any samples taken by Honeywell or 

its representatives, contractors, or consultants; 

d. obtain documentary evidence, including photographs and similar data in 

Honeywell's possession, custody, or control; and 

e. assess Honeywell's compliance with this Consent Decree. 

82. Upon request, Honeywell shall provide EPA and VADEQ or their authorized 

representatives splits of any samples taken by Honeywell. Upon request, EPA and V ADEQ shall 

provide Honeywell splits of any samples taken by EPA or V ADEQ. 

83. Until five (5) years after the termination of this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall 

retain, and shall instruct its contractors and agents to preserve, all non-identical copies of all 

documents, records, or other information (including documents, records, or other information in 

electronic form) in its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its 

contractors' or agents' possession or control, and that relate in any manner to HoneyweWs 

performance of its obligations under this Consent Decree. This information-retention requirement 

shall apply regardless of any contrary corporate or institutional policies or procedures. At any time 

during this information-retention period, upon request by the United States or Virginia, Honeywell 

shall provide copies of any documents, records, or other information required to be maintained 

under this Paragraph. 

84. At the conclusion of the information-retention period provided in the preceding 

Paragraph, Honeywell shall notify the United States and Virginia at least ninety (90) Days prior to 
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the destruction of any docwnents, records, or other information subject to the requirements of the 

preceding Paragraph and, upon request by the United States or Virginia, Honeywell shall deliver 

any such docwnents, records, or other information to EPA or V ADEQ. Honeywelf may assert that 

certain docwnents, records, or other information are privileged under the attorney-client privilege 

or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Honeywell asserts such a privilege, it shall 

provide the following: (1) the title of the docwnent, record, or information; (2) the date of the 

docwnent, record, or information; (3) the name and title of each author of the docwnent, record, or 

information; (4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (5) a description of the subject 

of the docwnent, record, or information; and (6) the privilege asserted by Honeywell. However, 

no docwnents, records, or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of 

this Consent Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege. 

85. Honeywell may also assert that information required to be provided under this 

Section is protected as Confidential Business Information ("CBI") under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to 

any information that Honeywell seeks to protect as CBI, Honeywell shall follow the procedures set 

forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2. 

86. This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry and inspection, or 

any right to obtaininformation, held by the United States or Virginia pursuant to applicable 

federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or permits, nor does it limit or affect any duty or 

obligation of Honeywell to maintain docwnents, records, or other information imposed by 

applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or permits. 

XX. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENTIRESERVATION OF RIGHTS 

87. This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States and Virginia for 
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the violations alleged in the Notice of Violations (attached as Appendix B) and Complaint filed in 

this action through the date of lodging of this Consent Decree. This Consent Decree shall resolve 

all civil liability to the United States and Virginia for violations through the date oflodging of the 

Applicable NSRlPSD Requirements for NOx at E Train of Area 9 at the Facility. For the purposes 

of this Part, "Applicable NSRlPSD Requirements" for NOx shall mean: PSD requirements of Part 

C of Subchapter I of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7475, and the regulations promulgated. thereunder at 40 

CFR 52.21 and 51.166; the portions of the applicable SIPs and related rules adopted as required by 

40 C.F .R.. 51.165 and 51.166; "Plan Requirements for Non~Attainment Areas" at Part D of 

Subchapter I ofthe Act, 42 U.S.C.§ 7502-7503, and the regulations promulgated thereunder at 40 

C.F.R. 51.165(a), (b) 40 C.F.R Part 51, Appendix S, and 40 C.F.R. 52.24; any Title V regulations 

that implement, adopt, or incorporate the specific regulatory requirements identified above; any 

applicable state or local regulations that implement, adopt, or incorporate the specific federal 

regulatory requirements identified above; and any Title V permit provisions that implement, adopt, 

or incorporate the specific regulatory requirements identified above. 

88. The United States and Virginia reserve all legal and equitable remedies available to 

enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to limit 

the rights of the United States or Virginia to obtain penalties or injunctive relief under the Act or 

implementing regulations, or under other federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or permit 

conditions, except as expressly specified in Paragraph 87, above. The United States and Virginia 

further reserve all legal and equitable remedies to address any imminent and substantial 

endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment arising at, or posed by, 

Honeywell's Facility, whether related to the violations. addressed in this Consent Decree or 
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otherwise. 

89. In any subsequent administrative or judicial proceeding initiated by the United 

States or Virginia for injunctive relief, civil penalties, other appropriate relief relating to the 

Facility or Defendant's violations, Defendant shall not assert, and may not maintain, any defense 

or claim based upon the principles of waiver, res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, 

claim preclusion, claim-splitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims 

raised by the United States or Virginia in the subsequent proceeding were or should have been 

brought in the instant case, except with respect to claims that have been specifically resolved 

pursuant to Paragraph 87, above. 

90. This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any permit, under any 

federal, state, or local laws or regulations. Honeywell is responsible for achieving and maintaining 

complete compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and permits; 

and Honeywell's compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action 

commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulations, or permits, except as set forth herein. The 

United States and Virginia do not, by their consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or 

aver in any manner that Honeywell's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will 

result in compliance with provisions of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq., or with any other 

provisions of federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or permits. 

91. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Defendant or of the 

United States or Virginia against any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, nor does it 

limit the rights of third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, against Defendant, except as 

otherwise provided by law. 
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92. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of 

action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree. 

XXI. COSTS 

93. The Parties shall bear their own costs ofthis action, including attorneys' fees, 

except that the United States and Virginia shall be entitled to collect the costs (including attorneys' 

fees) incurred in any action necessary to collect any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated 

penalties due but not paid by Defendant. 

XXII. NOTICES 

94. Unless otherwise specified herein, whenever notifications, submissions, or 

communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall be made in writing and addressed 

as follows: 

To the United States: 

Chief, Enviromnental Enforcement Section 
Enviromnent and Natural Resources Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Box 7611 Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 
Re: DOJ No. 90-5-2-1-09611 

and 

Director, Air Protection Division 
U.S. Enviromnental Protection Agency 
Region III (3APOO) 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, P A 19103 

To EPA: 

Kristen Hall 
Enviromnental Engineer 
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U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Region III (3AP12) 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, P A 19103 
Phone: 215-814-3297 
Fax: 215-814-2134 
hall.kristen@epa.gov 

and 

Dennis M. Abraham 
Senior Assistant Regional Counsel 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Region III (3RCIO) 
1650 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, P A 19103 
Phone: 215-814-2695 
Fax: 215-814-2603 
abraham.dennis@epa.gov 

To Virginia and VADEQ: 

Deputy Regional Director 
Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 
Piedmont Regional Office 
4949-A Cox Road 
Glen Allen, VA 23060 
Ky1e.Winter@DEQ.Virginia.gov 

and 

Enforcement Division Director 
. Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 
P.O. Box 1105 
629 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23218 
Jefferson.Reynolds@DEQ.Virginia.gov 

To Defendant Honeywell: 

Thomas E. Knauer 
Law Office of Thomas E. Knauer, PLLC 
1011 East Main Street, Suite 310 
Richmond, VA 23219 
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Direct: 804-783-7787 
Fax: 804-783-0188 
Email: tknauer@TKenvirolaw.com 

Tom Byrne 
Chief Environmental Counsel 
Honeywell International Inc. 
101 Columbia Road 
Morristown, NJ 07962 
Phone: 973-455-2775 
Fax: 973-455-5904 
E-mail: Tom.Byrne@Honeywell.com 

Kevin Keller 
Plant Manager 
Honeywell 
905 East Randolph Rd 
Hopewell, VA 23860 
(804) 541-5366 
Kevin.Keller6@Honeywell.com 

Donal Hall 
HSEManager 
Honeywell 
905 East Randolph Rd 
Hopewell, VA 23860 
(804) 541-5707 
Donal.Hall@Honeywell.com 

95. Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, change its designated notice 

recipient or notice address provided above. 

96. Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted upon mailing, 

unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by mutual agreement of the Parties in writing. 

XXIII. EFFECTIVE DATE 

97. The Effective Date ofthis Consent Decree shall be the date upon which this 

Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent Decree is granted, 

whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court's docket. 
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XXIV. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

98. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of this Consent 

Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or entering orders 

modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections XVIII (Dispute Resolution), above, and XXV 

(Modification), below, or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree. 

XXV. MODIFICATION 

99. The terms ofthis Consent Decree, including any attached appendices, may be 

modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties. Where the 

modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon approval 

by the Court. 

100. Any disputes concerning modification of this Decree shall be resolved pursuant to 

Section XVIII of this Decree (Dispute Resolution), provided, however, that, instead of the burden 

of proof provided by Paragraph 79, above, the Party seeking the modification bears the burden of 

demonstrating that it is entitled to the requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 60(b). 

XXVI. TERMINATION 

101. After Honeywell has completed the requirements of Sections V - XI and XIII, 

above, and has thereafter maintained continuous compliance with this Consent Decree and 

Honeywell's permits identified in Section XI (Permits), above, to the extent that the requirements 

in those permits are identified above in Paragraph 21, for a period of three years, has complied 

with all other requirements of this Consent Decree, including those relating to the Preventive 

\ 

Maintenance and Operation Plans required by Paragraph 28, above, and the Defendant has paid the 
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civil penalties and any accrued stipulated penalties as required by this Consent Decree,the 

Defendant may serve upon the United States and Virginia a Request for Termination, stating that 

Defendant has satisfied those requirements, together with all necessary supporting documentation. 

102. Following receipt by the United States and Virginia of a Request for Termination, 

the Parties shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that the Parties 

may have as to whether Defendant has satisfactorily complied with the requirements for 

termination of this Consent Decree. If the United States, after consultation with Virginia, agrees 

that this Decree may be terminated, the Parties shall submit, for the Court's approval, a joint 

stipulation terminating this Decree. 

103. If the United States, after consultation with Virginia, does not agree that this Decree 

may be terminated, the Defendant may invoke Dispute Resolution under Section XVIII, above. 

Defendant shall not seek Dispute Resolution of any dispute regarding termination, under Paragraph 

73 of Section XVIII (Dispute Resolution), above, until sixty (60) Days after service of its Request 

for Termination. 

XXVII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

104. This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Court for a period of not less than 

thirty (30) Days for public notice and comment in accordance with 28 C.F.R. 50.7. The United 

States reserves the right to withdraw or withhold its consent ifthe comments regarding the Consent 

Decree disclose facts or considerations indicating thatthe Consent Decree is inappropriate, 

improper, or inadequate. Defendant consents to entry of this Consent Decree without further 

notice and agrees not to withdraw from or oppose entry ofthis Consent Decree by the Court or to 

challenge any provision of this Decree, unless the United States has notified Defendant in writing 
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that it no longer supports entry of this Decree. 

XXVIII. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE 

105. Each undersigned representative of Defendant, Virginia and the Assistant Attorney 

General for the Environment and Natural Resources Division of the Department of Justice certifies 

that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and 

to execute and legally bind the Party he or she represents to this document. 

106. This Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not be 

challenged on that basis. Defendant agrees to accept service of process by mail with respect to all 

matters arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service 

requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 ofthe Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any applicable 

Local Rules of this Court including, but not limited to, service of a sununons. 

XXIX. INTEGRATION 

107. This Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive agreement and 

understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in this Decree and 

supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, concerning the settle­

ment embodied herein. Other than deliverables that are subsequently submitted and approved 

pursuant to this Decree, no other document, nor any representation, inducement, agreement, 

understanding, or promise, constitutes any part of this Decree or the settlement it represents, nor 

shall it be used in construing the terms of this Decree. 

XXX. FINAL JUDGMENT 

108. Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Consent Decree. 
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shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United States, Virginia, and Defendant. 

XXXI. APPENDICES 

109. The following appendices are attached to and made part of this Consent Decree: 

"Appendix A" is the Enhanced LDAR Program 

"Appendix B" contains Notices of Violation 

Dated and entered this ____ day of ________ .2013. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
Eastern District of Virginia 
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The Undersigned Parties enter into this Consent Decree in the matter of United States v. Honeywell 
Resins & Chemicals LLC, (E.D. Va.) relating to alleged violations ofthe Clean Air Act. 

FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 

_17v->_"~ _._ ,c:. j(~ 
~d 

Assistant Attorney General 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 

KATHERINE M. KANE 
Senior Attorney 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 7611 
Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, DC 20044-7611 
202-514-0414 

51 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2   Filed 03/28/13   Page 55 of 60 PageID# 84

The Undersigned Parties enter into this Consent Decree in the matter of United States v. Honeywell 
Resins & Chemicals LLC, (E.D. Va.) relating to alleged violations of the Clean Air Act. 

NEIL H. MACBRIDE 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

By: 

1We/!taIJI 
ROBERT P. McINTOSH 
Virginia Bar Number 66113 
Attorney for the United States of America 
United States Attorney's Office 
600 East Main Street, Suite 1800 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Telephone: (804) 819-5400 
Facsimile: (804) 819-7417 
Email: Robert.McIntosh@usdoj.gov 
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The Undersigned Parties enter into this Consent Decree in the matter of United States v. Honeywell 
Resins & Chemicals LLC, (E.D. Va.) relating to alleged violations of the Clean Air Act. 

ON BEHALF OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY: 

~Y 
Date: 

Date: 

Director, Ai nforcement Division 
Office of Civil Enforcement 
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

Attorney Adviser, Air Enforcement Division 
Office of Civil Enforcement 
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
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The Undersigned Parties enter into this Consent Decree in the matter of United States v. Honeywell 
Resins & Chemicals LLC, (E.D. Va.) relating to alleged violations of the Clean Air Act. 

ON BEHALF OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTE"'FI·"'" 7 

l1-i 1/ IL 
Da I 

. /...sBAWNM.GARVIN 
/" Regional Administrator 

. U.S. Environmental ction Agency, Region ill 
. i 650 Arch Street (3 00) 

Philadelphia, PA 19103~2029 

{ IA 
MARCIAE. Y 

Senior Assistant Regional Counsel 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region III 
1650 Arch Street (3RCIO) 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029 
abraham.dennis@epa.gov 
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'J1!e :Uodcrslgne4 Parties enter into dtis Consen1 Demee In 1he mllllllr of UnttedSUlles~. "ollf)'Wlll 
Resins &: Chemicals LL. (ED. Va.) relating 10 alleged viQlations Qf the Clean Air Act. 

FOR PLAINTIFF COMMONWEALTH OF VIR 

·,DAVIDK.PAYLOR 
Direetclr 
Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 
629 East Main Street 
Ricbmond, Virginla 23219 
Dayfd.l)ylqr@*g.vil'(lnia.goy 

..•. !J~ ~ER 
Assistant Attorney Oen~l 
Environmental Section 
Virginia Office of the Attorney General 
900 East MaIn Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

• j. Ssurber@pag shlte,ya.u§ 
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FOR DEFENDANT HONEYWELL RESINS & CHEMICALS LLC: 

/2 /u /2CJ/2-
~ QAMAR S. BJ'tATIA 

Vice President and General Manager 
Honeywell Resins & Chemicals LLC O~. 

~ 
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FOR DEFENDANT HONEYWELL RESINS & CHEMICALS LLC: 

March 25, 2013 

Date Thomas E. Knauer 
Virginia Bar #26120 
Attorney for Honeywell Resins & Chemicals LLC 
Thomas E. Knauer, PLLC 
12101 County Hills Court 
Glen Allen, V A 23059 
Telephone: 804-783-7787 
Email: tknauer@TKenvirolaw.com 
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DefInitions: 

APPENDIX A 
ENHANCEDLDARPROGRAM 

1. The defInitions set forth in this Consent Decree shall apply for the purposes of this 
Appendix A. For purposes of this Appendix A to the Consent Decree, the following 
defInitions shall also apply: 

a. "CertifIed Low-Leaking Valves" shall mean valves for which a manufacturer has issued 
either: (i) a written guarantee that the valve will not leak above 100 parts per million (ppm) 
for fIve years; or (ii) a written guarantee, certifIcation or equivalent documentation that the 
valve has been tested pursuant to generally-accepted good engineering practices and has 
been found to be leaking at no greater than 100 ppm. 

b. "CertifIed Low-Leaking Valve Packing Teclmology" shall mean valve packing teclmology 
for which a manufacturer has issued either: (i) a written guarantee that the valve packing 
teclmology will not leak above 100 ppm for fIve years; or (ii) a written guarantee, 
certifIcation or equivalent documentation that the valve packing teclmology has been tested 
pursuant to generally-accepted good engineering practices and has be.en found to be leaking 
at no greater than 100 ppm. 

c. "Covered Equipment" shall mean all pumps, agitators, open-ended valves or lines, valves 
and connectors in light liquid or gas/vapor service that are regulated under a federal, state, or 
local leak detection and repair program in all Covered Process Units. 

d. "Covered Process Units" shall mean any process unit subject to any and all federal, state, or 
local leak detection and repair programs. 

e. "DOR" shall mean Delay of Repair. 

f. "ELP" shall mean the Enhanced Leak Detection and Repair Program. 

g. "LDAR" shall mean Leak Detection and Repair. 

h. "LDAR Audit Cornrnencement Date" or "Commencement of an LDAR Audit" shall mean 
the fIrst day of the on-site inspection that accompanies an LDAR audit. 

1. "LDAR Audit Completion Date" or "completion of an LDAR Audit" shall mean one 
hundred twenty (120) calendar days after the LDAR Audit Commencement Date. 

J. "MACT level LDAR work practice standards" shall mean any leak detection and repair 
program that is defmed as a MACT level work practice as referenced in 40 CFR Part 63. 

k. "Method 21" shall mean the test method found at 40 CFR Part 60, Appendix A, Method 21. 
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1. "Non-MACT level LDAR work practice standards" shall mean any leak detection and repair 
program that is not defined as a MACT level work practice. 

m. "OEL" or "Open Ended Line" shall mean any valves, except pressure relief valves, having 
one side of the valve seat in contact with process fluid and one side open to atmosphere, 
either directly or through open piping. 

n. "Process Unit Shutdown" shall mean a work practice or operational procedure that stops 
production from a process unit, or part of a process unit, during which it is technically 
feasible to clear process material from a process unit, or part of a process unit, consistent 
with safety constraints and during which repairs can be affected. The following ARE NOT 
considered process unit shutdowns: 

I. An unscheduled work practice or operations procedure that stops production from a 
process unit, or part of a process unit, for less than 24 hours. 

2. An unscheduled work practice or operations procedure that would stop production from a 
process unit, or part of a process unit, for a shorter period of time than would be required 
to clear the process unit, or part of the process unit, of materials and start up the unit, and 
would result in bypassing apermitted pollution control device andlor produce greater 
emissions than delay of repair of leaking components until the next scheduled process unit 
shutdown. 

3. The use of spare equipment and technically feasible bypassing of equipment without 
stopping production. 

o. "Quasi-Directed Maintenance" shall mean the utilization of monitoring (or other method 
that indicates the relative size of the leak) within the next business day of each attempt at 
repair of a leaking piece of equipment to achieve an efficient return to below the leak repair 
trigger. 

p. "Screening Value" shall mean the highest emission level that is recorded at each piece of 
equipment as it is monitored in compliance with Method 21. 

Part A: General 

2. The requirements ofthe ELP shall apply to all Covered Equipment except that the 
requirements of Paragraphs 3 and 33 shall apply to all equipment at the Facility that is 
regulated under any federal, state, or local LDAR program. The requirements of this ELP 
are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the requirements of any federal, state, or local LDAR 
regulation that may be applicable to a piece of Covered Equipment. If there is a conflict 
between a federal, state or local LDAR regulation and this ELP, Honeywell shall follow 
whichever is more stringent. 

3. By no later than ninety (90) Days after the Effective Date ofthis Consent Decree, 
Honeywell shall develop a written facility-wide LDAR Program Plan that describes: (i) its 
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facility-wide LDAR program (e.g., applicability of regulations to process units and/or 
specific equipment; leak definitions; monitoring frequencies); (ii) a tracking program (e.g. 
Management of Change) tbat ensures that new pieces of equipment added to the Facility 
for any reason are integrated into the LDAR program and that pieces of equipment that are 
taken out of service are removed from tbe LDAR program; (iii) the roles and 
responsibilities of all employee and contractor personnel assigned to LDAR functions at 
the Facility; (iv) how tbe number of personnel dedicated to LDAR functions is sufficient 
to satisfy tbe requirements ofthe LDAR program; and (v) how the Facility plans to 
implement this ELP. Honeywell shall review this document on an annual basis and update 
it as needed by no later than December 31 of each year, beginning December 31, 2012. 

Part B: Monitoring Frequency 

4. By no later tban one hundred and eighty (180) Days after tbe Effective Date oftbe 
Consent Decree, for all Covered Equipment, Honeywell shall comply with tbe following 
periodic monitoring frequencies, unless more frequent monitoring is required by federal, 
state or local laws or regulations: 

a. Valves - Quarterly 
b. Connectors - Annually 
c. Pumps/Agitators - Monthly 
d. Open-Ended Lines (monitoring will be done at the closure device) - Annually 

Monitoring frequencies for batch processes shall be determined following monitoring 
frequency equivalents outlined in 40 CFR 60.482-1(f). 

Monitoring shall not be required for pumps tbat are seal-less or tbat are equipped with a dual 
mechanical seal system that complies witb tbe requirements of 40 CFR 63 .163( e). 

Components tbat are unsafe-to-monitor or inaccessible shall meet tbe provisions oftbe HON 
for unsafe-to-monitor or inaccessible components. 

Monitoring for connectors that require only audio, visual, and olfactory (AVO) monitoring 
per applicable.LDAR regulations shall be conducted per those regulations and in lieu of 4.b. 

Because the LDAR regulations applicable to tbe Facility prohibit OELs, tbere is no list of 
components that will receive this periodic monitoring. The Facility shall meet tbe 4.d. 
requirement by inspecting periodically for OELs and monitoring them using Method 21 if 
any are found. 

5. Equipment that has been replaced or repacked pursuant to Part G of this document. For 
equipment that has been replaced or repacked pursuant to Part G, Honeywell may monitor 
such equipment at the frequency required by tbe most stringent regulation that applies to 
the piece of equipment. If any such piece of equipment is found to be leaking, Honeywell 
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shall monitor that piece of equipment monthly until the piece of equipment shows no leaks 
above the action levels in Table 1 of Part D for twelve consecutive months, at which time 
Honeywell may commence monitoring at the frequency for that type of equipment set 
forth in either Paragraph 4 or Subparagraph 6.a. 

6. Alternative monitoring frequencies for valves, connectors, and open-ended lines after two 
years. At any time after two consecutive years of monitoring valves, open-ended lines, 
and connectors pursuant to the requirements of Paragraph 4, Honeywell may elect to 
comply with the monitoring requirements set forth in this Paragraph by notifying U.S. 
EPA and Virginia no later than three months prior to commencing the monitoring under 
this Paragraph. Honeywell may elect to comply with the monitoring requirements of this 
Paragraph at one or more than one Covered Process Unit but may not make this election 
for anything less than all pieces ofthe same type of Covered Equipment (i.e., valves, 
connectors, or open-ended lines) in each Covered Process Unit. If Honeywell elects to 
comply with the monitoring requirements of this Paragraph 6, Honeywell shall comply 
with the requirements of both Subparagraphs. 6.a and 6.b; Honeywell cannot elect to 
comply with Subparagraph 6.a and not 6.b. 

a. For valves, connectors, and open-ended lines that have not leaked at any time for at 
least two consecutive years of monitoring. For valves, connectors, and open-ended 
lines that have not leaked at any time for at least the two years prior to electing this 
alternative, Honeywell shall monitor valves and open-ended lines one time per year 
and shall monitor connectors one time every two years. If any leaks are detected 
during this alternative monitoring schedule or during an LDAR audit or a federal, 
state or local audit or inspection, Honeywell shall immediately start monitoring 
pursuant to the requirements of Subparagraph 6.b. 

b. For valves, connectors, and open-ended lines that have leaked at any time in the 
prior two years of monitoring. For valves, connectors, and open-ended lines that 
have leaked at any time in the prior two years of monitoring, Honeywell shall 
monitor each piece of equipment monthly until the piece of equipment shows no 
leaks for twelve consecutive months, at which time, Honeywell may commence 
monitoring at the frequency for that type of equipment set forth in Subparagraph 6.a. 

Part C: Monitoring Methods and Equipment 

7. By no later than ninety (90) Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, for all 
Covered Equipment except for the connectors, and by no later than one hundred and 
twenty (120) Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree for connectors, 
Honeywell shall comply with Method 21 in performing LDAR monitoring, using a Toxic 
Vapor Analyzer 1000B Flame Ionization Detector (FID) (or any other device meeting the 
specifications of Method 21) attached to a data logger, or equivalent equipment, which 
directly electronically records the Screening Value detected at each piece of equipment, 
the date and time that each Screening Value is taken, and the identification numbers of the 
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monitoring instruments and technician. Honeywell shall transfer this monitoring data to an 
electronic database on at least a weekly basis for recordkeeping purposes. 

8. Honeywell shall conduct all calibrations of LDAR monitoring equipment using methane 
as the calibration gas and in accordance with 40 CFR Part 60 EPA Reference Test Method 
21. In addition, Honeywell shall conduct calibration drift assessment re-checks of the 
LDAR monitoring equipment before each monitoring shift and with one such re-check at 
the end of each monitoring shift. This calibration drift assessment shall be conducted 
using a calibration gas with a concentration approximately equal to the applicable internal 
leak definition. If any calibration drift assessment after the initial calibration shows a 
negative drift of more than 10% from the previous calibration, Honeywell shall re-monitor 
all components that had a reading greater than 250ppm within the applicable monitoring 
period for the component (e.g., annually for connectors). Honeywell shall follow this same 
procedure if it is necessary to tum off the LDAR monitoring equipment for any reason, 
except when the device is accidentally turned offand then immediately turned back on, 
during a monitoring shift. Honeywell shall retain all calibration records for at least one 
year. 

Part D: Leak Detection and Repair Action Levels 

9. Honeywell shall identifY leaks through both Method 21 monitoring and audio, visual and 
olfactory sensing inspections. 

10. By no later than one hundred and eighty (180) Days after the Effective Date of this 
Consent Decree, for all Covered Equipment subject to MACT level work practice at 
which a leak is detected at or above the leak repair action levels listed in Table 1, and for 
all Covered Equipment subject to non-MACT level work practice at which aleak is 
detected at or above the leak repair action levels listed in Table 2, Honeywell shall 
perform repairs in accordance with Paragraphs 12 ~ 15 ofthis ELP. 

By no later than three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days after the Effective Date ofthis. 
Consent Decree, for all Covered Equipment subject to non-MACT level work practice at 
which a leak is detected at or above the leak repair action levels listed in Table 1, 
Honeywell shall perform repairs in accordance with Paragraphs 12 - 15 of this ELP. 

Table I: Leak Repair Action Levels by Equipment Type for Components Currently 
Subject to MACT or 40 CFR Part 63 Subpart H Equivalent 

Equipment Type Lower Leak Definition (ppm) 
Valves 250 

Connectors 250 
Pumps 500 

Agitators 2000 
OELs (at the Closure Device) 250 
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Table 2: Leak Repair Action Levels by Equipment Type for Components Currently 
Subject to a Non-MACT (NSPS) Level Work Practice 

Equipment Type Lower Leak Defmition (ppm) 
Valves 500 

Connectors 500 
Pumps 2000 

Agitators 5000 
OELs (at the Closure Device) 500 

11. By no later than ninety (90) Days after the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, for all 
Covered Equipment, at any time, including outside of periodic monitoring, that a leak is 
detected through audio, visual, or olfactory sensing, Honeywell must repair the piece of 
Covered Equipment in accordance with all applicable regulations and with Paragraphs 12 
- 15 of this ELP. 

Part E: Leak Repairs 

12. By no later than five (5) Days after detecting a leak, Honeywell shall perform a first 
attempt at repair. By no later than fifteen (15) Days after detection, Honeywell shall 
perform a final attempt at repair or may place the piece of equipment on the Delay of 
Repair list provided Honeywell has complied with all applicable regulations and with 
requirements of Paragraphs 13 - 15 and 17. 

13. Honeywell shall perform Quasi-Directed Maintenance during all repair attempts. 

14. For leaking valves (other than control valves and ball valves), when other repair attempts 
have proven ineffective and/or Honeywell is not able to remove the leaking valve from 
service, Honeywell shall use the drill-and-tap repair method prior to placing the leaking 
valve on the DOR list unless there is a major safety, mechanical, product quality, or 
environmental issue with repairing the valve using this method. Honeywell shall 
document.the reason(s) why any drill and tap repair was not performed prior to placing 
any valves on the DOR list. Honeywell shall attempt at least two drill-and-tap repairs or 
equivalent before placing a valve on the DOR list, unless a valve has been identified as a 
major safety, mechanical, product quality, or environmental risk pursuant to this 
Paragraph. 

15. For each leak, Honeywell shall record the following information: the date of all repair 
attempts; the repair methods used during each repair attempt; the date, time and Screening 
Values for all re-monitoring events; and, if relevant, the information required under 
Paragraphs 14 and 17 for Covered Equipment placed on the DOR list. 

16. Nothing in Paragraph 12 - 15 is intended to prevent Honeywell from taking a leaking 
piece of Covered Equipment out of service; provided however, that prior to placing the 
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leaking piece of Covered Equipment back in service, Honeywell must repair the leak or 
must comply with the requirements of Part F (Delay of Repair) to place the piece of 
Covered Equipment on the DOR list. 

Part F: Delay of Repair 

17. By no later than three (3) months after the Effective Date ofthis Consent Decree, for all 
Covered Equipment placed on the DOR list, Honeywell shall require the following: 

a. Sign-offfrom the plant manager, a corporate official responsible for environmental 
management and compliance, or a corporate official responsible for plant 
engineering management that the piece of Covered Equipment is technically 
infeasible to repair without a Process Unit Shutdown; and 

b. Periodic monitoring, at the frequency required for other pieces of Covered 
Equipment of that type in the process unit, of the Covered Equipment placed on the 
DOR list. 

c. Under no circumstances shall more than 2% ofthe total components subject to 
LDAR requirements exceed more than one year on DOR, nor shall more than I % of 
the total components subject to LDAR requirements exceed more than two years on 
DOR, and all components are required to be repaired within 3 years of being placed 

·onDOR. 

PartG: Equipment Replacement/Improvement Program 

18. Commencing no later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree 
and continuing until termination, Honeywell shall implement the program set forth in 
Paragraphs 19 to 23 to replace andlor improve the emissions performance of the valves 
and connectors in each Covered Process Unit. 

19. Valves: 

a. List of all valves in the Covered Process Units. By no later than sixty (60) Days after 
the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall submit to EPA and 
V ADEQ a list of all valves in each Covered Process Unit that are in existence as of 
the Effective Date. The valves on this list shall be the "Existing Valves" for purposes 
of this Paragraph 19.· 

b. Installing new valves. Except as provided in Paragraph 20, Honeywell shall ensure 
that each new valve that it installs in any Covered Process Unit either is a Certified 
Low-Leaking Valve or is fitted with Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing 
Technology. 
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c. Replacing or repacking Existing Valves that have Screening Values at or above 250 
ppm. Except as provided in Paragraph 20, for each Existing Valve in each Covered 
Process Unit that has a Screening Value at or above 250 ppm during any two 
monitoring events during a roIling 12-month period, Honeywell shall replace or 
repack the Existing Valve with a Certified Low-Leaking Valve or with Certified 
Low-Leaking Valve Packing Technology. Honeywell shall undertake this 
replacement or repacking by no later than thirty (30) Days after the monitoring event 

. that triggers the replacement or repacking requirement, unless the replacement or 
repacking requires a Process Unit Shutdown. If the replacement or repacking 
requires a Process Unit Shutdown, Honeywell shall undertake the replacement or 
repacking during the first Process Unit Shutdown that follows the monitoring event 
that triggers the replacement or repacking requirement. If Honeywell completes the 
replacement or repacking within 30 Days of detecting the leak, Honeywell shall not 
be required to comply with Part E of this Appendix A. If Honeywell does not 
complete the replacement or repacking within 30 Days, or if, at the time of the leak 
detection, Honeywell reasonably can anticipate that it might not be able to complete 
the replacement or repacking within 30 Days, Honeywell shall comply with all 
applicable requirements of Part E. 

d. Replacing or repacking Existing Valves that have Screening Values between 100 
ppm and 250 ppm. 

Beginning no later than six (6) months after the Leak Definitions of Table 1 are 
effective to the applicable Covered Equipment, Honeywell will begin replacing or 
repacking Existing Valves that have Screening Values between 100 ppm and 250 

PP!!h 

i First time. Except as provided in Paragraph 20, for each Covered Process Unit, 
prior to the first Process Unit Shutdown, Honeywell shall generate a list of all 
Existing Valves that had Screening Values between 100 ppm and 250 ppm during 
any two monitoring events over a roIling 12-month period that took place between 
the Effective Date of this Consent Decree and the last calendar quarter prior to the 
first Process Unit Shutdown. Honeywell shall prioritize the list to the extent possible 
in descending order from worst leaks (at the top) to least-worst leaks (at the bottom). 
Any Existing Valve that leaked two or more times shall be placed higher on the list 
than any Existing Valve that leaked only once. Honeywell shall replace or repack 
with either Certified Low-Leaking Valves or with Certified Low-Leaking Valve 
Packing Technology the lesser of: (A) all Existing Valves on the list; or (B) the 
number of Existing Valves that results from solving the equation set forth below for 
"VTBRR" ("Valves To Be Repacked or Replaced"). If (B) applies, Honeywell shall 
replace or repack the Existing V alves, starting at the top of the list and proceeding 
downward. If the equation set forth below yields a fraction, the results shall be 
rounded to the nearest whole number and fractions above 0.50 shall be rounded up. 
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VTBRR = 0.10 X (VT - VDOR -VPRR -VPR) 
Where: 

VTBRR: Existing Valves that have leaked between 100 ppm and 250 ppm and 
are to be replaced or repacked at the Process Unit Shutdown with either 
Certified Low-Leaking Valves or with Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing 
Technology 

VT: Total Existing Valves in Covered Process Unit at the time of the Process 
Unit Shutdown 

VDOR: Existing Valve(s) on Delay of Repair list that are to be repacked or 
replaced at the Process Unit Shutdown 

VPRR:Existing Valve(s) that has (have) been previously replaced or repacked 
with either Certified Low-Leaking Valves or with Certified Low-Leaking 
Valve Packing Technology 

VPR:Existing Valve(s) that is (are) pending repair (i.e., replacement or 
repacking) prior to the Process Unit Shutdown 

ii. Replacement or repackings during subsequent Process Unit Shutdowns. Except as 
provided in Paragraph 20, Honeywell shall comply with the requirements of 
Subparagraph 19.d.i. at each Process Unit Shutdown of each Covered Process Unit. 
In order to generate the list of Existing Valves that leak between 100 ppm and 250 
ppm during any two monitoring events over a rolling 12-month period for these 
subsequent Process Unit Shutdowns, Honeywell shall utilize the Screening Values of 
the monitoring events that took place between the last Process Unit Shutdown and 
the last calendar quarter prior to the current Process Unit Shutdown. 

iii. Valve Elimination Program (Optional): 

(A) For each Covered Process Unit, by no later than three (3) months prior to the first 
Process Unit Shutdown, Honeywell may submit to EPA and V ADEQ for review 
and comment a proposal to eliminate Existing Valves in organic hazardous air 
pollutant (HAP) service for the exclusive purpose of eliminating possible HAP 
emissions ("Valve Elimination Proposal"). Eliminating Existing Valves in 
organic HAP service shall mean the physical removal of the interface where 
potential fugitive HAP emissions may occur while simultaneously not creating 
another fugitive emission point. Honeywell. may utilize as a credit toward the 
number of Existing Valves that it must repack or replace (i.e., "VTBRR") all 
Existing Valves that it proposes for elimination. Honeywell must thereafter 
permanently eliminate those Existing Valves from service during the first 

. Process Unit Shutdown of each Covered Process Unit. Ifthe number of Existing 
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Valves proposed for elimination and actually eliminated during the first Process 
Unit Shutdown exceeds the number of valves required to be replaced or repacked 
during the first Process Unit Shutdown, Honeywell may take credit for those 
Existing Valves in the replacements or repacking that are required in the 
subsequent Process Unit Shutdowns pursuant to Subparagraph 19.d.ii. 

(B) Honeywell may propose for elimination only those Existing Valves that it will 
eliminate for the exclusive purposes of reducing possible HAP emissions. Valve 
eliminations resulting from equipment or process unit changes that Honeywell 
otherwise would undertake for any other reason may not be utilized for purposes 
of this Subparagraph 19.d.iii. 

(C) EPA and V ADEQ do not, by their review of Honeywell's Valve Elimination 
Proposal and/or its failure to comment on Honeywell's Valve Elimination 
Proposal, warrant or aver in any manner that Honeywell's elimination of any 
Existing Valves conforms to the requirements of Subparagraph 19.d.iii (A) or 
(B). Honeywell remains exclusively responsible for complying with those 
requirements. 

20. Commercial unavailability of Certified Low-Leaking Valve or Certified Low-Leaking 
Valve Packing Technology. Honeywell shall not be required to utilize a Certified Low­
Leaking Valve or Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing Technology to replace or repack 
a valve. if a Certified Low-Leaking Valve or Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing 
Technology is commercially unavailable. Prior to claiming this commercial unavailability 
exemption, Honeywell must contact a reasonable number of vendors of valves and obtain 
a written representation or equivalent documentation from each vendor that the particular 
valve that Honeywell needs is commercially unavailable either as a Certified Low­
Leaking Valve or with Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing Technology. In the 
Compliance Status Reports due under Part N of this Appendix A, Honeywell shall: (i) 
identify each valve for which it could not comply with the requirement to replace or 
repack the valve with a Certified Low-Leaking Valve or Certified Low-Leaking Valve 
Packing Technology; (ii) identify the vendors it contacted to determine the unavailability 
<if such a Valve or Packing Technology; and (iii) include the written representations or 
documentation that Honeywell secured from each vendor regarding the unavailability. 

21. Records of Certified Low-Leaking Valves and Certified Low-Leaking Valve Packing 
Technology. Prior to installing any Certified Low-Leaking Valves or Certified Low­
Leaking Valve Packing Technology, Honeywell shall secure from each )11anufacturer 
documentation that demonstrates that the proposed valve or packing technology meets the 
definition of "Certified Low-Leaking Valve" and/or "Certified Low-Leaking Valve 
Packing Technology." Honeywell shall retain documentation in accordance with Section 
XIX and make it available upon request. 

22. Connectors: 

10 
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a. Connector replacement and improvement descriptions. For purposes of this 
Paragraph 22, for each of the following types of connectors, the following type of 
replacement or improvement shall apply: 

Connector Type 

Flanged 

Threaded 

Compression 

CamLock 

Quick Connect 

Any type 

Replacement or Improvement Description 

Replacement or Improvement of the gasket 

Replacement or Improvement of the doping or taping 

Replacement of the Connector 

Replacement or Improvement of the gasket 

Replacement or Improvement ofthe gasket, 
if applicable, or replacement of the connector if no 
gasket 

Elimination (e.g., through welding, pipe 
replacement, etc.) 

b. Installing new connectors. In installing any new connector in a Covered Process 
Unit, Honeywell shall use best efforts to install a connector that is least likely to 
leak, using good engineering judgment, for the service and operating conditions that 
the connector is in. 

c. Replacing or improving connectors. For each connector that two out of three 
consecutive monitoring periods has a Screening Value at or above 250 ppm, 
Honeywell shall replace or improve the connector in accordance with the applicable 
replacement or improvement described in Subparagraph 22.a. Honeywell shall use 
best efforts to install a replacement or improvement that will be the least likely to 
leak, using good engineering judgment, for the service and operating conditions that 
the connector is in. Honeywell shall undertake the replacement or improvement 
within thirty (30) Days after the monitoring event that triggers the replacement or 
improvement, except where the replacement or upgrade requires a Process Unit 
Shutdown. If the replacement or improvement requires a Process Unit Shutdown, 
Honeywell shall undertake the replacement or improvement during the first Process 
Unit Shutdown that follows the monitoring event that triggers the requirements to 
replace or improve the connector. If Honeywell completes the replacement or 
improvement within 30 Days of detecting the leak, Honeywell shall not be required 
to comply with Part E of this Appendix A. If Honeywell does not complete the 
replacement or improvement within 30 Days, or if, at the time of the leak detection, 
Honeywell reasonably can anticipate that it might not be able to complete the 

11 
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replacement or improvement within 30 Days, Honeywell shall comply with all 
applicable requirements of Part E. 

23. Equipment Replacement/Improvement Report. In each Compliance Status Report due 
under Appendix A, Part N, Honeywell shall include a separate section in the Report that: 
(i) describes the actions it took to comply with this Part G, including identifying each 
piece of equipment that was replaced or upgraded; and (ii) identifies the schedule for any 
future replacements or upgrades. 

Part H: Management of Change: 

24. Management of Change. Honeywell shall ensure that each piece of equipment added to 
the Facility or removed from the Facility for any reason is evaluated to determine if it is or 
was subject to LDAR requirements and that such pieces of equipment are integrated into 
or removed from the LDAR program. 

Part I: Training 

25. By no later than six (6) months after the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, Honeywell, 
shall develop a training protocol to ensure that refresher training is performed once per 
calendar year and that new personnel are sufficiently trained prior to any involvement in 
the LDAR program. By no later than twelve (12) months after the Effective Date of the 
Consent Decree, Honeywell shall ensure that all employees and contractors responsible 
forLDAR monitoring, maintenance ofLDAR equipment, LDAR repairs and/or any other 
duties generated by the LDAR program have completed training on all aspects ofLDAR 
that are relevant to the person's duties. 

Part J:Quality Assurance ("QA")!Quality Control ("QC") 

26. Daily Certification by Monitoring Technicians. Commencing by no later than three (3) 
months after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, on each day that monitoring 
occurs, at the end of such monitoring, Honeywell shall ensure that each monitoring 
technician certifies that the data collected represents the monitoring performed for that day 
by requiring the monitoring technician to sign a form that includes the following 
certification: 

On [insert date], I reviewed the monitoring data that I collected today and that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief; the data accurately represent the monitoring I 
performed today. 

In lieu of a form for each technician for each day of monitoring, a log sheet may be created 
that includes the certification that the monitoring technicians would date and sign each day 
that the technician collects data. 

12 
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27. Commencing no later than the first full calendar quarter after the Effective Date of this 
Consent Decree, during each calendar quarter, at unannounced times, an LDAR trained 
employee of Honeywell (or Honeywell employed LDAR trained third party not employed 
by the site's regular LDAR monitoring contractor), who does not serve as an LDAR 
monitoring technician on a routine basis, shall conduct an audit of the site's LDAR 
program. This audit is intended as a systems audit and is not intended to review all 
records for each component. This audit shall include the following: 

a. No less that once per quarter, review whether any pieces of equipment that are 
required to be in the LDAR program are not included; 

b. No less that once per quarter, verify that equipment was monitored at the appropriate 
frequency; 

c. No less that once per quarter, verify that proper documentation and sign-offs have 
been recorded for all equipment placed on the DOR list; 

d. No less than once per quarter, ensure that repairs have been performed within the 
required timeframe; 

e. No less than once per quarter, review monitoring data and equipment counts (e.g., 
number of pieces of equipment monitored p~r day) for feasibility and unusual trends; 

f. No less than once per quarter, verify that proper calibration records and monitoring 
instrument maintenance information are stored and maintained; 

g. No less than once per quarter, verify that other LDAR program records are 
maintained as required; and ~ 

h. No less than once per quarter per monitoring technician, observe LDAR monitoring 
technicians in the field to ensure monitoring is being conducted as required. 

Honeywell shall correct any deficiencies detected or observed as soon as practicable. 
Honeywell shall maintain a log that: (i) records the date and time that the reviews, 
verifications and observations required by this Paragraph were undertaken: and (ii) 
describes the nature and timing of any corrective action taken. 

Part K: LDAR Audits and Corrective Action 

28. Honeywell shall conduct LDAR audits pursuant to the schedule in Paragraph 29 and the 
requirements of Paragraph 30. Honeywell shall retain a third-party with experience in 
conducting LDAR audits to conduct no less than the initial audit and follow-up audits 
every two (2) years until termination of the Consent Decree. To perform the third-party 
audit, Honeywell shall select a different company than its regular LDAR contractor. At its 
discretion, in years which Honeywell is not required to retain a third-party auditor, 
Honeywell may conduct the audit internally by using its own personnel, provided that the 
personnel Honeywell uses are not employed at the facility being audited but rather are 
employed centrally or at one or more other Honeywell facilities. All such internal audits 
must be conducted by personnel familiar with regulatory LDAR requirements and this 
ELP. 

13 
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29. Until tennination of this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall ensure that an LDAR audit at 
the Facility is conducted every two (2) years in accordance with the following schedule: 
for the first LDAR audit at the Facility, the LDAR Audit Commencement Date shall be no 
later than six (6) months after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree. For each 
subsequent LDAR audit, the LDAR Audit Completion Date shall occur within the same 
calendar quarter that the first LDAR Audit Completion Date occurred. 

30. Each LDAR audit shall include, but not be limited to, reviewing compliance with all 
applicable regulations, reviewing and/or verifying the same items that are required to be 
reviewed and/or verified in Paragraph 27, and perfonning the following activities: 

a. Calculating a Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage. Covered Equipment 
shall be monitored to calculate a leak percentage for each Covered Process Unit 
broken down by equipment type (i.e., valves, pumps, agitators, connectors, and 
OELs at the closure device). The monitoring that takes place during the audit shall 
be called "comparative monitoring" and the leak percentages derived from the 
comparative monitoring shall be called the "Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak 
Percentage." Until tennination of this Consent Decree, Honeywell shall conduct a 
comparative monitoring audit pursuant to this Subparagraph of at least three (3) 
Covered Process Units during each LDAR audit. Each Covered Process Unit at the 
Facility that is not the subject of the current audit shall have a comparative 
monitoring audit at least once before a previously-audited Covered Process Unit is 
audited again. 

b. Calculating the Historic Average Leak Percentage from prior periodic monitoring 
events. For the Covered Process Unit that is audited, the "Historic Average Leak 
Percentage" from prior monitoring events, broken down by equipment type (i.e., 
valves, pumps, agitators, connectors and OELs at the closure device) shall be 
calculated. The following number of complete monitoring periods immediately 
preceding the comparative monitoring audit shall be used for this purpose: valves - 2 
periods; pumps and agitators - 12 periods; connectors - 1 period; and open-ended 
lines - 2 periods. 

c. Calculating the Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio. For the Covered Process Unit 
that is audited, the ratio of the Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage from 
Subparagraph 30.a. to the Historic Average Leak Percentage from Subparagraph 
30.b shall be calculated. If a calculated ratio yields an infinite result, Honeywell shall 
assume one leaking piece of equipment was found in the process unit through its 
routine monitoring during the 12-month period before the audit, and the ratio shall 
be recalculated. 

In the first LDAR audit, Honeywell shall not be required to undertake comparative 
monitoring on OELs or calculate a Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio for OELs 
because of the unavailability of historic, average leak percentages for OELs. 

d. Compliance with this ELP. In addition to these items, LDAR audits after the first 
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audit shall include reviewing the Facility's compliance with this ELP. 

31. When more frequent periodic monitoring is required. If a Comparative Monitoring Audit 
LeakPercentage calculated pursuant to Subparagraph 30.a. triggers a more frequent 
monitoring schedule under any applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation than the 
frequencies listed in Part B - that is either Paragraph 4, 5, or 6 - for the equipment type in 
that Covered Process Unit, Honeywell shall monitor the affected type of equipment at the 
greater frequency unless and until less frequent monitoring is again allowed under the 
specific federal, state, or local law or regulation. At no time may Honeywell monitor at 
intervals less frequently than those in the applicable Paragraph in Part B. 

32. Corrective Action Plan: 

a. Requirements of a CAP. By no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt of each 
LDAR Audit Report, Honeywell shall develop a preliminary corrective action plan 
("CAP") if the results of an LDAR audit identifY any deficiencies or if the 
Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio calculated pursuant to the Subparagraph 30.c. is 
3.0 or higher. The CAP shall describe the actions that Honeywell shall take to 
correct the deficiencies andlor the systematic causes of a Comparative Monitoring 
Leak Ratio that is 3.0 or higher. The CAP also shall include a schedule by which 
those actions shall be undertaken. Honeywell shall complete each corrective action 
as expeditiously as possible with the goal of completing each action within ninety 
(90) Days after receipt of the LDAR Audit Report. If any action is not completed or 
is not expected to be completed within 90 Days after receipt of the LDAR Audit 
Report, Honeywell shall explain the reasons in the final CAP to be submitted under 
Subparagraph 32.b., together with a proposed schedule for completion of the 
action(s) as expeditiously as practicable. Nothing in this provision shall change 
Honeywell's obligation to promptly address any violations of LDAR requirements 
that may be found during the audit and in advance ofthe final LDAR Audit Report. 

b. Submissions of the CAP to EPA. By no later than one hundred and twenty (120) 
Days after receipt of the LDAR Audit Report, Honeywell shall submit the final CAP 
to EPA with a copy forwarded to VADEQ, together with a certification of the 
completion of corrective action(s). For any corrective actions requiring more than 
120 Days to complete, Honeywell shall include an explanation together with a 
proposed schedule for completion as expeditiously as practicable. 

c. ApprovaVDisapproval of all or parts of a CAP: 

1. Unless within sixty (60) Days after receipt of the CAP, EPA, in.consultation 
with VADEQ, disapproves of all or part of a CAP's proposed actions andlor 
schedules, the CAP shall be deemed approved. 

11. By no later than sixty (60) Days after the receipt of Honeywell's CAP, EPA, 
in consultation with VADEQ, may disapprove any or all aspects of the CAP. 
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Each item that is not specifically disapproved shall be deemed approved. 
Except for good cause, EPA may not disapprove of any action within the 
CAP that already has been completed. Within forty-five (45) Days of receipt 
of any disapproval from EPA, Honeywell shall submit a revised CAP that 
addresses the deficiencies that EPA identified. Honeywell shall implement 
the revised CAP either pursuant to the schedule that EPA proposed, or, if 
EPA did not so specifY, as expeditiously as practicable. 

111. A dispute arising with respect to any aspect of a CAP shall be resolved in 
accordance with the dispute resolution provisions of this Decree. 

Part L: Certification of Compliance 

33. Unless the request for a schedule extension is approved by EPA, in consultation with 
V ADEQ, within two hundred and forty (240) Days after receipt of the Audit Report, 
Honeywell shall submit a certification to EPA and V ADEQ that: (i) the Facility is in 
compliance with all applicable LDAR regulations and this ELP; (ii) Honeywell has 
completed all corrective actions, if applicable, or is in the process of completing all 
corrective actions pursuant to a CAP: and (iii) all equipment at the Facility that is 
regulated under any federal, state, or local leak detection program has been identified and 
included inthe Facility's LDAR program. 

PartM: Recordkeeping 

34. Honeywell shall keep all original records, including copies of all LDAR audits, to 
document compliance with the requirements of this ELP in accordance with Section XI of 
this Consent Decree. All monitoring data, leak repair data, training records, and audits will 

. be retained for five (5) years, except for the calibration records (including calibration drift 
assessments) which will be retained for one.(l) year. Upon request by EPA and/or 
VADEQ, Honeywell shall make all such documents available to EPA and or V ADEQ and 
shall provide, in their original electronic fonnat, all LDAR monitoring data generated 
during the life ofthis Consent Decree. 

Part N: Reporting 

35. Compliance Status Reports. On the dates for the time periods set forth in Paragraph 36, 
Honeywell shall submit, in the manner set forth in Section XIV (Notices) ofthe Consent 
Decree, a compliance status report regarding compliance with the ELP. Honeywell may, 
should it so choose, submit this report as part of its semiannual consent decree report. The 
compliance status report shall include the following infonnation: 

a. The number of personnel assigned to LDAR functions at the Facility and the 
percentage of time each person dedicated to perfonning hislher LDAR functions; 
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b. An identification and description of any non-compliance with the requirements of 
Appendix A; 

c. An identification of any problems encountered in complying with the requirements 
of Appendix A: 

d. The information required in Appendix A, Paragraph 20; 

e. A description of any LDAR training required in accordance with Appendix A, Part I 
of this Consent Decree; 

f. Any deviations identified in the QAlQC performed under Appendix A, Part J, as 
well as any corrective actions taken under that Part; 

g. A summary ofLDAR audit results, including specifically identifYing all 
deficiencies; and 

h. The status of all actions under any CAP that was submitted pursuant to Part K of 
Appendix A during the reporting period .. 

36. Due dates .. The first compliance status report shall be due thirty-one (31) Days after the 
first full half-year after the Date of Entry of this Consent Decree (i.e., either: (i) January 
31 of the year after the Date of Entry, if the Date of Entry is between January 1 and June 
30 ofthepreceding year; or (ii) July 31 of the year after the Date of Entry, if the Date of 
Entry is between July 1 and December 31). The initial report shall cover the period 
between the Date of Entry and the first full half year after the Date of Entry (a "half year" 
runs between January 1 and June 30 and between July 1 and December 31). Until 
termination of this Decree, each subsequent report will be due on the same date in the 
following year and shall cover the prior two half years (i.e., either January 1 to December 
31 or July 1 to June 30). 

37. Each compliance status report submitted under this Part shall be signed by the plant 
manager, a corporate officer responsible for environmental management and compliance, 
or a corporate official responsible for plant engineering management, and shall include the 
following certification: 

I certifY under penalty of law that I have examined and am familiar with the 
information in the enclosed documents(s), including all attachments. Based on my 
inquiry of those individuals with primary responsibility for obtaining the 
information, I certifY that the statements and information are, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, true and complete. I am aware that there are significant 
penalties for knowingly submitting false statements and information, including the 
possibility of fines or imprisonment pursuant to Section 113(c)(3) of the Clean Air 
Act and 18 U.S.C Sections 1001 and 1341. 
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Appendix B to Consent Decree in United States and Commonwealth of 
Virginia v. Honevwell Resins & Chemicals, LLC 
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'UNITEDSTATESENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
, REGiONill ' 
. 1650 Areh street 

Philadelphia. Pennsylvania '19103~2029 

In the Matter of: 

Hono;yw!lll lnten,1l!tipnaI Inc. 
Hon~irflopewell . . . 

NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

.' Docket No. cAA-iti~9-06 c. ' 90S. E.RlIndolph Road . 
Hop~ll VA ,23860 

, \':'",-. 

• ,L •• 

STATUTORY AUTHORITY' 

. ' .. ThisNoticci.ofVioliltioids· issued ~ursWlfiftoSe.:l.i?ii 113( ~),(1)an?(3),ofth~ <fieaitA.h," 
Act ("CAA"or.the"Act''), as am¢nded;on November IS., 199Qby P.L: IOI-5tg,42 U.SCC.,;, 
§7413(11}(1),l!1ld(3),t() IloneyweJIIn~ationallnc, ("Hori~II" or "~1)Oruterit") fot .... .' 
violations oithe eM, e!lrtainreiJ.uirementsofHoheyWell's"Titlll voJi!:ratii1~ permit,imd ..... ' ." 
Vir . . a;s'StlltefuiieirieiitationPlan(the ",T"' "SIP'1fotiiiil at 40CFR PIirt' S.2, ~~b art'vv, .. gmt....P...,.,...... ..... ..... ~ ... ".' ." '.' ...... ,,, . ., .... P ..•. 
Section S.2.2420( eX at Honeywell'stnariUfaCtUrlng 1"l!ciifty located at 905 E!!St Randolph Road," 
Hopewell, Virginia 23860 (hereinafter, the "HoneyWeU'FaCility"or the ''Facllitf'). seclion . , 
113(a)(I) 9f the Act re<IuirestIre.Ad')li?i"'Wttor ()ftheq~ted S~teS Enyifo~~ .Pro.~pon 
AgeiicY(''E~A''?tt4e "Agency') fp notity a perso~ In vi()la,ti()n of any reqljir!l~tOr " ... " ... ' 
prohibition ofiufapplicable i1hplemerttati6n pIaD or permit,and1:JKlStiite ~ w!rlchth~llllU( 
applies of such violation. The authority to issue NOV s bas ~b. delegated to' the Director of . 

. EPA Region ill'sAir ProtectiOIl, Division. A dc:scriptioll of the reg!ilatory b@kground, the , 
relevantJactS a liSt c\rth~ sPecilicvipliwonsidentitied by ~PA.are ouiJin¢d~elow.The ..... . 

. geogtajlhlcal JUrisdi~tiilii orEPA: Reglonm inllhJdesthil Com!"Onweiilth6fVfrgiiUa.' .... . 
""._ . '-. ",'::'J:!.;«/-; - "- -' .. : ,'- d_ • ,,_,- --.,'-, .' • "",-. :-'~ ., ,'_,. " •• '_ ;;" ",' '.,",;. - -',- .: 

';FINDINGS'()FFACT 

. 1. Honeywelllntemational, Inc. is a Delaware coIPoration headquartered at 101 Colinnbia' . 
Road, MorristoWn, NJ 07962. This is apublicly-owned comp3ny with faciIitiesworIdwicle .. 

',' ',' -',-:. -, - -, ;,'--~' -,_' '- > '-';': _," ", '., ,_. ",' -. __ , ',r:· ,-' -:~_ '--.. -' ,:\; 

2. . The Hoii¢~eUFaCiIity is a Titiey . ·majorsourqe·~b.ga'ged intpe P16twctlgnpf.· . . . 
chemicals for lISe as a product, co~pi'odUct by-productorinterinediate. HoneyWell Jnincipa!Jy 
manufactures caproiactam, a petrochemical used in the manufacturing of nylon 6, a syntheti~ . 
fiber. The majority of caprolactam is shipped as a molten liquid to facilities in Columbia, South 

. Carolina and Chesterfield, Virginia for conversion to nylon-6. Co-products from caproIactam 
production include: ammoniUm sulfate (for the agricultural industry), cyclohexanol, 
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cyclohexanoneanc!. oxime chemicals. AmmolJ.ium SJ!1fate is the]1U'gest yolwne9hemical 
produced at the Honeywell Facility. AtiJtal of i9 mil/i!,n paundsof chemicals are manl\f'actured 
per day at the Facility, and 11 million PO\lJlc!.s perdayofthose chemicals are consumed internally 
as intermediates to mailUfacture caprola_ .. 

3. The Commonwealth of Virginia issued a Title V Operating Permit for the Facility 
(permit # PR050232), effective January 1,2007 through Decen\ber 31,2011 (the "Title. V, .', 
Permit''). . ... 

4. Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C § 7412, requires the AdministratOroi~rA topu,~~. 
a list of air p'ollutan,ts det~ to be hazardous and to promulgate regulatio~eStablishiI)g.·'· .' 
emission stail~; or whele necessary, design, equipment, work practice or ciPllf!ltioilS s~ .' 
for each listed hazardous.air pollutant ("HAP''). Pursuant to Section 112 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § . 

. 7412, EPA promulgated 40 CFR Part 61, Subpart FP. the National Emission Standards for 
Benzene Waste Operations ("Benzene W'~.NBs,HAP'~!,r "Subpart FF''). 

S. The requirements.pfthe.Qenzene Waste N,ESHAP apply to the ~o~IlFaci!ity 
because it is bOth a lfhemicaI mi;u11ifactUrlDg planbnc:! a treatnieIit, storage and (&posal faCility. '. 

. , i,. T' .• >' .; . _.' . _; , -_ ~ _ - --' ',",' , '_ ,: . '_. _' ,-. ' ,;. 
as Honerwell ~ Ifs 0)'11,1 )lazardo!Jl! ~te on-sity, JO .CPR §§61.340(a)!IJlC!. (1l). fIQIl~yWflll , 
is, therefore,lin ·affecrte4faCjl~ subject t!>.·the ~v,i~~011$ of the. B\."l)iene Waste N~~IU,\P ~c!. 
must.ll9ntr9n\sben2:eJA1f e!iris,~iol1$ rel~eddm-4!g,~9JleCtion ari~~tnlellt Qf.~te &ir~ '. 
which. ~ontairi,~l!Ild wWch voilltflize .~ .1J!\."Y"ID'\." traIlsP.i!rt¢ ~\I~PfOcC1isse,¥\m!, 
sumps aridcp!l¥tio~ .. s~lI1$. 40CFR§§61}4~~a) ,'. . '.' '. ....,.. . ... 

6. ~t'toCoridl.tion.51 ofHoneyWeiI.'s.titIeVPe!Wi~ Hori~eri is subjectt040 Cf~ .' .' 
Part 63 Su,Jlp~H'1:h~Nation;J Ewission Standard fordrgaptc~ous AirPoUl!faritsfrom. 
Equipment leaks ("HON" or "Subp;nt H"). . .. . . '. . . ' . . 

.' " - '.,J; ~ ,_ .. ", '_,' ,':) . .'. _. _. _. : , - ~ :t 

7. The LeakDetc:Ctjon and ~pair (',tDAiFiproYi&ionsciftheH()N~~e;.fo pump~. >, •• 
compressoIS,agitato~ ~<;,s~ relief4eVices,S8III.pliriil CClnn.¥ti()nsYstl<~,.!>,I#OCll:~,ed :v!\!x~ . 

. or lines, valves,.connectors, ~urge Control vessels, bOttoms receivers, instrwi:tentationsystems; .. 
and control devices or closed vent systetl}S ~~J>ySuppart H that are intended to operate in 
organic hazardous air pollutant service 300 haul'll' or more during a calendar year for Area 6 of 
the Fac;ility .. , . 

8. IIi Aprilof2007; dUly authorized personnel froni EPARegioo III and the EPA National 
Enforcementarid,lIivestigatiOll$Center, 9OndUC;tec!.a Cl~ Air Act Inspection, 4!l<lu<ling on~site' 
LDARmonitoritiil at i!te Facility. I Iii Nov~ber of2007, EJ> A c9J.idilctedCIe.ar AirAi;i sampling 
at the Facility;' .. ..... . . ., . . "..: ' . . ..... ,. '. .. .,' 

2 
Prbrted 011100% ncycledlrecycWJle paper with 100% post-consUIIIeT fiber and process chlorinefree, 

Customer Service Hotline: 1-800-438-2474 
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9. Condition 109 of Honeywell's Title V Permit requires that fugitive volatile organic 
compound ('''VOC'') emissions resulting from' equipment leaksinthose pOrtions of AreaM6 
Crude Caprolactam ProdUction, not already sUbject to fugitive emissions iequirementsfrom other 

. appiicable regulations shall be controlled through an LDAR program. The LDAR program shall 
be substantivelYlequivaIent to the LDAR requireinentsspecified in 40 CFR 60, Subpart VV. 
Condition#E.7 ofthe3~6/1997RACT Agreemell$aitd9 VAC' 5-80;HO'ofVirgiJiia State· 
Regulations. ',: : ":,,' 

10. Condition 307 of Honeywell's Title V Permit requites that volatile organic compound 
emissions from fugitive eqUipment leaks from Area 14 and the HoneyWell Chemicals OS-10oo 
manufiilituiiag procilss'lIndthe HoneywellChemicals MUlti-PUtpcisebXinultion process Shall be 
controlled by'. a 'Lelik Detection and Repair (LDAR)'Program; (COndition #4 ofthb9n12oo7 NSR : 
Perillit lind 9 VACS"80-110'ofStateRegUIations) 

II. COnilition3(}8l>fHoneywell's TitleV'Permitrequires fugitive VOC emissions resulting . 
from equipment leakS in those,portions,ofArea14not already subject to fugitive emissions '. 
requirements front othe/"applicable IJ}gWations .shallbe controlled through a Leak DeteCtion and ' 
Repair (LDAR}program, TheJLOARproSramshllllbe substantively'equivaIentto'the LDAR " 
requirements'-sPebifiediti40 CFR60,' Suh'partVV; (Condition#E.7:of the 3/2611997;RACT' 
Agreement lind 9 VAC 5-80-110 of State Regu!atilins) ".'" 

--,-" 

12. Section XVII of Honeywell's Title V outlines General Conditions applicilble to the '. 
Facility. Section A Federat Enforceability states that, all tenns and conditions in this permit are 
enforceable by the adrnliiiirtratcrand citizensUl1det the federal Cielln Air Act; eXcCptthose that 
have been designated as only state-enforceable. ' .' .. " " 

U. VIOLATIONS '.' . ." ,,: 

A.' '40CFR Part 61 'Subpart FF-·NationM Emission Standard Cor-Benzene Waste' . 
Operations. . . 

13. Fiilluteto properly identifybenzeneNESHAP'POGinvanousareas of the Facility; for 
purposesofClllcuiating TAB emissions, Ssrequiredby 40 CPR §6l:355(a); (b) and 40 CPR § 
61.355(c)(I)(i);· BasedtJn discussioilS with Honeywell perSOlmel, review ofHo1ieyW¢1l files and . 
EPA inspector observations; aqueous waSte' eontaining,benzene'iscori1lnoi1lY;iccumlilated;­
stored; or physically, chemically, thermally, or biologically treated prior to being discarded; 
recycled, or discharged at the Facility. ' ,. . . 

14. Sampling for benzene at the VT -31 tap while the tank is open to the atmosphere via the 
overflow to the process sewer which provides for volatilizatioI). ofpeJlZene as a Ine.ans to reduce 
benzene concentration, in violation of 40 CFR § 61.355(c)(I)(ii).· ...... " 

3 
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1 S. Be!1Ztlne samples taken from VT -31 are not taken from an enclosed pipe prior tiY the .' ..... 
~terbeing expQsed to the atmospbere, in violation of40CFR§ 61.355(0)(3)(i). 

16. Benzene samples were diluted by mixing the waste stream ~th other wastewaters prior to 
quantificatioli 1!oneywe!1 samples BV-19 and BV-27. out;oftheirtespectivehotwe!1s, "Both of·· 
the respective \tot wells receive four additional sources of wastewater at vmYiflg temperatores"· . 
and flow rates. The hot wells overflow a weir into a sump, which then flows into the clear water 
sewer, in violation of 40CFR § 61.3S5( c)(l)(iii). 

.. 
17., Benzene .. Waste.NESHAP TASrepons for calen¢lr, years 2002 4Ilroug!l2006 fOJ .the POQ;. i 

locations identified by HoneYwell &dnotprovide all inf9nna,ti.on reqQired In' 4OCJ;I.R § ." . '.' . 
61.356(b). Specifically, for each waste stream not controlledi"orbenzene;eml$si0n8;HoneyweU!L . 
records Or reports failed to provide: all test results; measurements; calculations and other 
documentation used to determjne;thefQlIowingIDformation' forthll ~:str~: waste siJeariJ. . 
identifica.tioll;water COntent, whethCr or not the waste s4'eamis apIQ.cess ~teWaterstrel1ll1,. . 
annual·waste ~uantity, rangllpfbenzen\l concentrations;annwtl averageflow,~jgh~ ~nzene'· 

. concentratioll; '<md ann1ll!lbenzene qQantjty;, In addt'tioll; Honeywell1Bi1ed to provide any 
background, information. and 'othe, documentation", as. !letined andreqQired by40'CFR § 
61.356(b)(I), to demonstrate that the EP A-identifiedPOQo locations weIll :no.t subject lothe .' 
Benzene Waste NESHAl' TAB reporting requirements, in violation of 40 CFR § 61.356(b) and 
40 CFR § 6L356(b)(1). . " . 

i' , 

18. Since 2003, J{oneyw:ell has under I\lportedthe·ai:tua)CQntributjonqfiilenzeile·fromVT-
. 666 tank, which is a vfolationof 40 CFR § 61.357(a)(4). 

19. HonllyweUfailed to address or quant~ fugitive emissions :from process sewer 
conveYances, the wet well, the equalization basin or the 'diversion basin. Fugitive emissions from 
these units wustbe quantified,'andI\lported, in acl;ordanee with 9 VACS-20~.I60, and 40 CFR § 
Part 52, Subpart VV.1 . 

20. HQneywell'sFebrQary.14, 2005 Notification ofGompljll!ll'eStatos (,'NOCS"}diej,not 
contain proper rec.oxds to det\lImine if, ,at aminimllJJl, m\lthQd624 was properlYfQllm,yed when 
samples were collected in J 99(i.Honeywell.didnot piovi!le this documentatiqn,when ~que~ 
during inspection. Specific. ally, the Noes was incomplete in that i~did not c.onWll; nor cpjJld 
Honeywell prqduce (as reqQiredby MI:thod 624).Il!.boratory analysis ,sl!~"pres~tionand. . 

. holding times, in accordance with 40 CFR § 63. 152(b )(1 )(ii). . 

I EPA appro~ed 9 VAC 5·20·160 as part of the Virginia Stale Impl";'e~on PI~ ~n 2121120oo,8ee, 65 FR 
21315. . .'. ..' '. .,... 

4 

Prin~d 0" IOo.%.recycld/l';ecycIllblepllper with lOO%Jloa~-!'OlIsu.mer f~ 1l1ld.procqs ch/IJ,br.~ 
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B.40 eFR Part 63 Subpart H - The National Emlssion Standards for Organic Hazardous 
Air PoUutants from Equipment Leaks and Virginia Title V Operating Permit -for the 
HonerweU IntemationalIne. - Hopewell Plant; 'Permit Number PROS0232 

21. The Facility has approximately 18,000 to 19,000 components which include: valves, . 
pumps; collneCtorS and agitators. AlthoUgh HoneyWell'irLeak Detection Repair'andMoDitoring 
program (LDAR) is contracted out; Honeywell's own plantmamfemince personnel peifomi alI .... 
repair attempts on leakiiIg components, Paragraphs22tbtoulih 30 below list the areas of cOnCern 
found at the time of EPA's LDAR in$pectiori; April 23, 2007 -May 3, 2007. 

22. EPA's review of Honeywell's LDAR Facility Emission Management System ("FEMS·) 
data fOF the past five (5) yeaisindicates that Honeywell failed to attempt torepainit least 79 
components, within 5 days of detecting the leak, these components are subject fuSubparfH 
andlor required by the Title V Permit to be under an LDAR program substantively eqirlvaient'to 

· 40CFR Part 60 Subpart VV.This is avioIation of 40 CFR § 63. 168(f)(2), 40 CFR ~ 
63. I 63(c)(2}, Iiild 6D74(g) and/orCoriditiOn#E.70ftIie3/26/1997 RACTAgreeinerifand9 
V AC 5·8<1'-110 ot'Vfrginia State Regulations. . -

· 23. EPA's review of Honeywell's LDAR FElVfSdata for the past five (5) years indicates that 
HoneyWell failed to complete final repair for at least 20 components within 15 days of detecting 

· the leak. These components are subject toSul>part H andlortequlied by the Title VPennit to be 
under anLDAR,program substantivelyeqnivalentto40 CFR 'Part-60 SubpartVV. This 1S;8 
violation of 40 CFR.§63.168(f)(l},40 CFR §63.163(e)(2),imd63.l74(d) aridlorCondition #E.7 
of the 312611997 RACT Agreeinentand 9VAC 5"80~110 of Virginia state Regulations," 

24. Honeywell's LDARFEMS data forthepast five (5)Yearsindicates that HoneyWellhss . 
identified 892 components as leakiog, but there has been no attempt of repair, delay of repair or 
any other repair history related to t1iese components; These components are subject to Subpart H 
andlor required by the Title V Pennit to be under an LDAR program substantively equivalent to 
40 CFR Part 60 SubpartVV.This is a violation of 40 CFR § 63.l68(t)(2), 40 CFR § 
63.163(c)(2), 63.174(g) and 40 CFR§ 63.168(t)(l), 40CFR §63J63(c)(2), and 63.174(d) and/or 
Condition #E.7 of the 3126/l997-RACT Agreement and 9VAC5~80-11 0 of Virginia state . 

- Regulations. 

25. Honeywell's LDAR FEMS data for the past five (5) years indicates that HoneyWell has· 
identified 1179 components subject to deIayedrepair. None of these components bas a -
correspoi1dirig repair history_ Some were identified ;IS leakiog in. 1997, and the most recent were 
identified in 2006. These components are subject to Subpart H and/or required by the Title V " 
Permit to beunderan'LDAR program substantivelyeqnivalent to 40 CFR Part 60 Subpart VV .. 
This is Ii violation of 63.171 (a), 63J 71(d}(2) and 63 .I71(e} and/or Condition #E.7 of the . . 
312611997 RACT Agreement and 9 VAC 5-80"110 of Virginia State Regulations. 

s 
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" 
26. Conditions 109, 307 and 308 of ~neywems Virginia Title V Operati!tgPermit include .. 
Leak Detection and Repair Requirements for areas throughout the Honeywell Hopewell Facility. 

27. Condition 100.requires fugitive voe emissions resulting from eqt;tipment l~in those 
portiOJ;ll! of Area 811 6 not already subject tp fugitive emissions requirements from other '. '. . ... 
applicable regulations to be c()ntrolled thr9ugh aLeakQetectionand Rtjpair (LDAR) program." .. '. 
substantively equivalent to the LDARrequirements specified in.40CF~ 60, Subpart VV. 

28. Condition 307 requires Volatile organic compound emissions:from fugitive eql!ipment 
leaks from tb,e Honeywell Chemicals OS,loo0 manufacturjngprocess,and the Honeywell' 
Chemicals Multi-Purpose OximatjcJn processshWl be ()9l!trolled by I!, Leak Detection and R!lpair 
("WAR") Program.·· ... 

. 29. . Gondition 308 requires fugitive VOC emissions resulting from equipment leaks in those 
portions of Area 14 not already subject to fugitive emissionS requirements from oiherapplicable 
regulations shall be controlled through an: WAR program substantively equiv8Ient to the LDAR 
requiremt)lltsspedfied in40.C~60, Sullpart VV. . . . 

30. . At the time oithe EPA WARin$pection, April 23- IvI8.y3, 2001; and through re:view of 
Honeywell's.FI;MSdata systellls~b.sequent to theinSPection,EPA 4as identified siguifi()l!ut 
deficiencies in l\lak repair and 'identification in AreaS 8/16, tb,eHQn~ll Chemic~ Area, and 
in portions of Area IJ not aIreadysubject toequipmeutJeak regulations in which.EP A has." 
determined Honeywell's LDAR programs are not substantially equivalent to 40CFR 60, Subpart 
VV as required by Honeywell's, TitieV Operating ~ermit, a Federa./lyEnforceable docwilent. 

, . -: -.- '.'.' -, . 

111. ENFORCEMENT 

. Section 113(a)(1) of the ACT, as llIIl~n~d, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(1), provides that at any 
tim~after the Ilxpiratioll of 30 days following the date ofissuan~ ofihisNOV, the EPA . 
Admiuistrator, or an EPAoflicial autho~toactas his reP!e8entative, may, without regard to 
the period of violation issue an order requiring compliance with the requirements of the sllite 
implementation plan or permit, or issue an administrative penalty order pursuant to Section 
113( d) for civil adIIlinistrative PIlpaities for up to $27,500 pet 4ay ofviolatjonJor violations 
occurring on '1f.j)efore March 14, ~004, $32,$00 per day ofviolati911for violations occurring>; 
after March. 1,4, ~004; and $37,50qp!'I day of violation fo~ violations occurring after JIl!l!lllry.12, 
2009; or bring a civil action pursuant to Section 1 n(b) for injunctive relief aildlor ciVil penIllties 
of not more than $27,5,00 p'r day of violation for violations occurring on or pefore ,March,14, 
2004; $32,500 per day of·violationfor violations. occurring after March 14, 2004; and $37,500 
per day of violation for violatiQns occurring lifter January 12,2009. 

6 

Prlnledon It)9~ reJ:),cledl"cycitWe paper with 1110% Pose.c()~lfIerj/ber ant! processchlorine/r"!!' 
Custpmer SerJ1~ Hotli'!e: 1-'~0-4$8-.?174 .. 

, 
I 
I 



Case 3:13-cv-00193-REP   Document 2-1   Filed 03/28/13   Page 25 of 37 PageID# 114

Section 1 13(c) of the Act;asaniended, 40U.S;C. §74l3(c); ,furihet provides for crimmaJ 
penalties or imprisonments, or both, for any persOn who knowingly Violates any plan or pennii' 
requirement more that 30 days after the date of the issuance of a NOV. 

PIlISJIlInt to Section 306(a) of the Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7606(a),iegii!ations 
promulgated thereunder at 40 CFR Part 15 and EJi,eCutive Order 11738; faCilities to be utilized in 
federal contracts, grants and loans must be in full compliance with the Acflin'd ail tegulations 
promulgated pursuant thereto. Violations of the Act may resu1tin'ilie 'subject FacilitY being 
declared ineligible for participation in any fede~ contract, grant or loan.' ' 

IV. PENALTY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA' 

Section 113(3)(1) of the Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(e)(1), state Ihluthe coUrt, in 
an action for assessmentof civil or criminal penalties sball as appropri<lte in .detennining the 
amount of peRalty to be assessed, tl!ke into consideration ( in addition to Such i>therfactors as 
justice mayreq.uire) the size ofthebusinesi!, the econo!IiicimpactoflhepellaiWontllebusiness, 
the violator'S full compliance history and food faith efforts'f6comply; theduiafioifofthe 
violation as established by any credible evidence Cmehtdingevidencei>thetthat the applicabie 
test method), payment by the violator of penalties previ0l\Sly assesselifolthesame \1oJation, the 
econonrlc benefit of noncompliance, and the seriousnesS oftlie violation, , " , 

Section Il3(e)(2) of the Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(e)(2), allows the c,ourt to 
assess a penalty for each day of the violation, Forpurposes of determining the nwnber of days of 
violation, where the plaintiff makes a primll'facie' ShOwirigthat the conduct or events giving rise 
to this violation are likely to have continued or recurred past the date of this NOV (ora 
previously issued air pollution control agency tlotiCeofviolatioll for the siitJie<~ollltion);the'days 
of the violation sball be presumed to include the date of this NOV (or the previous notice of 
violation) and eljllh and every day thereafter until Respondent est<iblishes that continuOus 
complianCe has been achieved, except to the extent that Respondent can prove by the 
preponderance of the evidence thatfherewere intervenmgdays dUriiiiwliich no violation 
occurred or that.the violation was not continuing in nature. 

~,~:, '", 

·V.OPPORTilNITY FORCONFERNECE 

, Respondents may, upon request, confer with EPA to discuss this NOV. If Respondent 
requests a conference with EPA, Respondent should be prepared ~o descriliethe causes of the ' 

,violation and to deScribe any actions Respondent may have taken or proposes to take to bring the 
Facility into compliance. Respondent has th~ right to be represented by counsel. 

,7 
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Respondent must submit any nlquest for a conference with EPA within fourteen (14) 
cale)lclar darsofrepj:ipt qfthisNOV. A reqllest for a conference withEP A,and/or any inquires 
regarWng this NOV, should b~ .subInittedin writing to: 

'. :Kristen Sall 
•.... I,lJ'l~¢!ltal: Scientist 

': . ,Air:Prq~ti9n Division (3t\P,12). . ' 
",'. {J, s,EnVllqntllC;$l Protectiqi"AgeJlpy- Region;lll 

1650 Arch Sp-ect ", " 
Pbiladelpbia, PAI9103-2029 

, (215) 814-21~8 

(: . 

, '",Dennis M:Abrabam 
.. <vi_ -,." " ,--"",., _, .- .'0' 

."",:,~~or,Assi~~ ~gional Counsel " . " 
'~JQfIi~~,c!)fR!igional CounseLC3RC~OJ ' 
,y .)3. Snyjrqnm~1Ital Protection Agency -RegiollllI ' 

"."J6~!l,ArcIt,Street,;, ' " , ' 
Pbiladelpbia, P AI9.! 03,2Q29 
(215) ~14-5214 ' 

~-,.-

, " VL EFFECTIVE DATE 
, "- '". '.,' 

Thi~ NPN. sl!all be~Y~inln!edi*lyupo!l receipt.', ' -r'-',· 

:., 

.; .. ~ 

.' '"' 

VH.9UESTION~ REGARDING NOVIFOV '.', 

In you have any questions regarding the issuance of this NOV, you may contact 
Kristen Hall, Environmental Scientist at (2\5) 81~h216~ or DenWs M. Abraham, Senior 
Assistant Regional Connsel, at (215)814-5214: '.' ,,' ,'"",, ' 

"'!'. 

8 
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vm.DISCLOSUREINFORMATION 

Certain companies may be required to disclose to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission ("SEC") the existence of certain pending or known to be contemplated 
environmental legal proceedings (administrative or judicial) arising under Federal, State or Local 
environmental lavis. Please see the attached "Notice of Securities and ExcJ;tange Commission 
Registrants' Duty to Disclose Environmental Legal Proceedings" for more'infonnation about this 
requirement and to aid you in determining whether your. company may be. $Ubject to the same. 

EPA is enclosing an Inforn!ation Sheet entitled ''U.S. EPA SmaIl Business Resources," 
(EPA 300-F-99-004, September 1999), which identifies a variety of compliance assistance and 
other tools available to assist smail businesses in complying with Federal and State 
environmental laws. 

-e~-ftz~~/&1, 
Air Protection DiVision 

cc: 

9 
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UNITEllSTATEs ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
: REGIONm· 
16S0 Arch Street 

Philadelphia, Penn,sylvania .19103-2029 

In the Matter of: 

Honeywell International Inc. 
Hon.eywelfHopewell 
905 E. Randolph Road . 
HqpewflllYA23860 

.. NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

Docket No. CAA-I11-09-13 

... STATUTORY AUTHO~Y 
:.:, ' 

,":: 

··Uris Notice of Violation (''NOV'') is· issued p~u.an.t to Section n3( a)(l) attd (3) 
()f the Clean Air Act ("CAA" 01: the "Act"), as amended, on November1S; 1990 by P.L 
101-549,42 U.S.C. §7413(a)(l) and (3), to Honeywell·International Inc. ("Honeywell" ot 
"Responqe¢') for vic.Tlatiolli!of the.CAA,certainrequb:ements ofHoneywell's Title Tv 

. Clpe~ti:o&pennit and Virginia's State Implementation Plan (the ~'Virginia SIP") fOund at 
40 CFRl'art 52; Subpart VV; Section 52.2420( c), atHoneywell'li manufilcturihg facility 
:1<!,ca,tedat9.05 Eastlundolph Road; Hopewell/Virginia 23860(here~,the 

. : ~~HoneYWl'll Facility" or the~Facility"). Section 113(a)(l) ·oCthe Act requires-the 
Administrator Of the united States Environmental Protection Agency C'EP A" ()rthe. 
"Agency") to notifY a person in violation. of any requirement or prohibition of an 
appji\i:8ple implementation plan()T permit,·and the'Stateiii which the pIan, applies of such 
violati\'llli The anthorityto-jssue NOV S'hasbeeu.delegated to the DireCtor of EPA •. 
Region.ill's Air Pl'otecUonDiviSion. Adeseription of tile regulatorybaClcgrolinc4the 

" relevant facts,a,nd a.li~oCthe spebific vi()lations identifiedbyEPA areolit1IDedb'elbw. 
IJ,lI).gl)Ographica1 jurisdictiQn ofEP A Region.m includes the Commonwealth of Virginia 

.. L FINDINGSORFACT 
-; ,_;- .,- "f-" 

... J. HoneywelllnternatioMl,Inc. is a Delaware corpoiationheadquartered at 101 
.. Gohunbia Road, Morristown, NJ 07962. Uris isa publicly-o~ed companyV/ith 
{acilities worldwide, ... 

:~, : 

--.2 •. The HOli!,ywell Facility is· a Title V "major source" engaged in the production of 
Chemicals for use as a product, co-product, by"product or interinediate.HoneYwell 
principally toanufuctures caprolactam,'!IIpetrochemica1 used in the manufaCturllig of 

. nylon 6, a synthetic fiber, ·The majority of caprillaCtam is Shipped as a molfeli liqUid to 
facilities in Columbia, ·South Gardlioa and Chesterfield, viiginia for conversion to nylon 6. 
'Co-products from caprolactam production .include: anunonil!lll siIlfate (for the agricultUral 

. inaustry), cyclohexanol, cyclohexanone and oxime chemicals. Anunonium·sulfate is the 

.Ja,rg~V9!1IID.ec:hemicalprodtJAAd at theHoneywe~Facility. . -
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3.. The Commonwealth of Virginia iss1leda Title 'v OVerating Permit for the Facility 
(permit # PR,059232), effectiveJanuaryl,2007 through December 31, 2011 (the ~J;"itle 
V Permit"). ' 

4. The Commonwealth ofVirginiaissiJed a Stationary Source Phased Construction 
Permit, New Source Performance Standards Permit and a P$it to Construct; , 
Reconstruct, Modify and Operate pn April 7, 2004 (collectively, the "Phased 

, Construction PerlI!it"). The requirem.ents ofllie Phased Construction Pertuit were 
, incorporated into the Title V pertuit. ' " 

';, 5. On May 27, 2008, EPA issued ;Ill information request letter,to th~Respondent 
, , pursuant to Section 114 of the CM, 42 U;S.C. § 7414 . 

,6. Respondent provided.resp6nses.to EPA':~ Iyfay27, 2008 information reqnest letter on 
the dates of June 24, 2008 and August 4, 2008. Those responses included various reports 
I!lOd ,other Process data in connection with the l~aCility' s Productionrate1 

, 'and Nitrogen 
Oxide (N0x) .rate. " , ' " 

7.: Testar, Incorporated ("TeStIu"")was cO!ltractedby Hon~ywelltocouduct Relative 
, Ac<;uracy Test Audits (RATAs) inr2003,200Sand 2007, in cOnnection with, tlie No,. 

• Confutupus Emission MouitoriDg SygtelnS (C:EMS) on the almnonium nitrite and ,. 
hydroxylamine diammoniwnSulfonate ~onS,ofthe A; C, D iind E trains, in Area'9 of 
theFacili.ty. Testar is a private environmental:and ec:ologiCaIservices company based in 
Ralejgh, North Carolina. " ' ' , . 

,8. URSCorporation ("URS") was contracted by Honeywell to perform stabkglis 
emission: testing for total suspf;'nded particulate; particulate matter smaller thlili 10 
,micr9ns (PIyfIO), and opacity on the ammonium nimte sectionpfthe "E"train(Ref. No, 

',.TW-32) inM!lrch2002, iJRs Corporation-is apublica!ly-ownedcOmpanythatpiovides ' 
, .' '" engineering and environmental services with lin office in Morrisville! North Carolina .. 

9.' On October 17, 2003, TestarcoIiducted'!i-!RATAofthe NO. CEMS onthe ammonium 
nitrite section of the "A" train (Ref No. TW-2),Iocated in Area 9 "fthe Facility. Results 
of this RATA were ,summarized ina November 2003 testteport preparedbyTeStar lind 
provideq to EPAjn Honeywell;s responsitto EP Nil May 27,'2608 inf"o~tionreq~ 
letter. Fifteen (IS) runs were performed by Testa'r and the NO. emissions werereppited 
at an average of 430 pounds per hour. The production rate was not provided in t\1e teSt 

'report. ijowever, the prod1,lctionrate,intonSof ammonia (NH~)burned per month, for 
October 2003 ",as Ifiported ir! Hon~yw~U's, CAA Section 114 response. "Based orr,the 

, hpurly NO. !Omission ra,te provid~d in theRi\TA test report and the monthly NH3 bum 
,·rate prpvided in the eAA Section 114 response, EPA establisJ1ed an emissionfactorfor 

this RATA test in units of pounds NOx/pound ofNH3burned. "', ' 

1 Production data reported in Honeywell'srespons,;!o EPA's May 21, 2008 'infoJ!D8lioii reqile,delter 'Vas 
claimoo as confidential bl!Sines, information. ' 
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.. 1 O. EPA detennined the 2004 annual production for the ammoniwn nitrite section of the 
. "A" train (Ref. No. TW-2), in tons per year (tpy) OfNH3 blUDed, from the monthly data 

provided in Honeywell's response to EPA's May 27, 2008 information request letter 

1 L ,On October 7,.2003, Testar conducted a RATA ofth!, NO. CEMS on the 
anmloniurn nitrite section of the "C'~ train (Ref. No; TW~I7), located. in Area 9 of the 

.. F~i1ity. Results of this RATA were summarized in an October 2003 testreportprepared 
.. byTestarand provided to EPA in HoneyWell's responseto.EPA's May 27,2008 

information request letter. Nine runs wereperformecl by Testar and the NOx emissions 
were reported at an average of 434 pounds per hour. The· production rate was not 
provided in the test report However, the production rate, in tons NH3 burned pernionth, 
for October 2003 was reported iii Honeywell' Ii CAA Section 114 response. Based on the 

' .. ;hourly NO. emission rateprovided in the RATA test report and the inontblyNH3 burn . 
. rate pnivided in theCAA Sectioll; 114 response, EPA eStablished'an emission factor for 
~.RATA test in units of pounds NOx/poundofNH3 burned. . . 

12. On March 6, 2007, Testar conducted aRA,TA of the NO. CEMS on the ammonium 
. ,nitrite section of the "e" train (Ref. No.·TW-I7), iocated'lnArea 9 of the, Facility. 

R~ults of this RATA were summariZed in a January and March 2007 test report prepared 
. by Testarand providedtoEP A in Honeywell's response tqEPA' s May 2(, 2008 .' 
:informatiorrrequestletter. Nine runs were performed by Testarand'the NO. etnissions 
were reported at an'average of 405 poundsp,er hour. The average prodricJ:iOJi rate dUring 

,'. thes.e;nineruns wasreportedmpounds'NH3~urned per hoUr. Based on'thehourIyNO. 
emission rate'and the monthly NHa burn rate provided in the RATAtest, EPA established 
'J!l1emission factor for this ~TA testinunits of pounds NOxlpound ofNH3birined. 

13. EPA detennined the 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 annual production for the ' 
ammonium nitrite section of the "C" train (Ref. No. TW -17), in tpy OfNH3 ~urned, from 

.' ,the monthly data provided inHoneywell's reSponse to EPA's May 27, 2008 information 
.. request letter. 

14. On January 25, 2005, Testar conducted a RATA of the NO. CEMS on the 
... ammoniwn nitrite section of the "E"train{Ref No. TW-32), loosted in Area 9 'of the 

Facility. Results of this RATA were.Sll)Illi1arized. in a January 2005 test report pr.,pared 
"by Testar and provided to EPA m Ho,,:eyweWsresponseto EPA's May 27,2008 

. information request!etteri Nme run.s were performed by Testar IqIdtheNO,remlssions 
were reported at an.average of 174 pouridsper hour. The average production rate during 
the~e nine runs was reported in pourids NH3 burned per hour .. ~aSed on the hourly NO • 

. ' emission rate and the monthly NHl burn rate provided in the RATA test, EPA 
.established an emissionfactor·for this RATA test in units of pounds NO. /poundofNHa 

'.' burned; 

·15. EPA determined the 2005 annual productionfor the ammonium nitrite se.ction of the 
"E"train (Ref. No. TW-32), in tpy ofNH3 burned, from the monthly data provided in 
HOneYwell's response to EPA's May 27,2008 information request letter. 
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.. 
16 •. On October 15, 2003, TIl~conductedaRATAoftheNOxCEMS on 
hydroxylamine diammonium sulfonate section oIthe "A" irain (Ref. No. TW-62), located 
in Area 9 of the Facility. Results 'of this RATA were summarized in an October 2003 test 
report prepared by Testar and provided to EPA in Honeywell's response to EPA's May 
27, 2008)nfonnationr~1iestletter. Eleven runs were performed by Testar and the No.. 
Iilllissions were reported' at lin averageof256 pounds per hour. The production lil,te was 
not provided in the test report .. However, the production rate, in tons sulfur (S) burned 
per month, for OctOber 2003 was reported In Honeywell's CAA Section 114 reSponse. 
BaSed On the hourly NO. emission rate·providedinthe RATA test report and the monthly 
S burn rate provided in the CAA Section I 14 respom:e, ·EP A established an emission 

.. factor for1hls RATA test in units of pOlUlds NOx /polUld of S burned. 

17 .. EPA-determined the 2004 annual productiOli for the hydroxylaminedi8lIiJil0nium 
s)lifQnate sectionofthe"A;' train (Ret: No. TW-62), intpy ofSbUlUlld, ft-omthe monthly 

. data provided in Honeywell's respons~.to EPA's May 27,2008 infonnation request letter. 

18. On January26; 2005,Testarconducteda RATA of the NO. CEMS on 
hydroxylamine diammonilPIl; sulfonate section of the "D" train (Ref. No. TW-23), located 

.. in.Area 9 Qfthe,F.acility. Results of this RATA were summarized in aJanuary2005 test' 
report prepared l>Y Testarandprovi<iOO to EPA·iil.HoneyweU's response to EPA'sMay 

... 27, :).008 information req~ letter .. Ten runs were perfotmed by Tesjar, however,Run 2 
... ~. not CCllllplet:ed because NO. concentration data was notcollecfed for· the fulltest 

. ';operlod and. the test wasaborte4, ; The NO. emissions for the nine remaioing runs were 
<.rWortedat aD. averag~of 140 pounds per hour. The average production rate during these 

. ·~e runs.WlS reported· in pOlUlds S burned per hour. Based on the hourly NO" emission 
rate and themonthly S bum rate provided in the RATA test, EPA established an emissjOli 
factor. for this RATA test ill units of pOlUlds NOx /polUld; of S burned. .' 

19. 'EPA determined the 2005 annual production for the hydroxylamioe diammonium 
sulfonate section {)f the "D" train (Ref. No. TW -23), in tpy of S burned, from the monthly 
data provided in Honeywell's response to EPA's May 27, 2008 infonnation request letter. 

20..0nMar.ch 14-15, 20.02, URS. conducted an emission test on the on the_onium 
.,.pitrite section Ofthe·"E" train (Ref. No.TW-32),.located in Area 9 of the Facility .. 

Results Dfthis",mission test were summarized in an April 2002 test report I?reparedby 
.. URS ami provided to EPA in Honeywell's response to EPA's May 27, 2008 information 
I~~est letter .. Three test runs were performed by URS and tliePMIO emissions were . 
reported:atanaverage of3.5 pOlUlds per. hour. The production rate W3:SUQtprovided in . 
the test report; However;th~ production rate, in funs NH, burned per. month, for March 

;,2002 wasreported.in Hpneywell's CAA Section 114 response. BlIl!ed ou the hourly 
. PMIO emission rate provided in the test report and the monthly NH, burn rate provided in 
the CAA Section 114 response, EPA established an 'emission factor for this emission test 
,in pOlUlds PM10 /pound.ofNH, bum.ed. . 
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· 2~. EPA determined 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007l1QD.ual production for the ammonium 
. nitrite section of the "E~~·1riIin(Ref. No. TW c32) intpy OfNH3 burned; from the monthly 
. data provided in HoneyweU's~nseto'EPA's May 27,2008 information requeSt letter. 

II. VIOLATIONS 

22. BfiSed on the emi~ion4ctor.established during the OCtober 17,2003 RATA 
.described above, and the 2004 alinualproductlon,tlre 2004ammal NO. emissions from 

.. the atlm!onium nitrite. section of the A Trilin (Ret No. TW-2) significantly exceeded the. 
l!III1ual NO. limit of 1673 tpyestablished in90ndition:98 of the Phased Constructi.on 
Permit . 

· 2;3. . Based on the emission factor established.duripgthe October 7; 200jRA T A' 
· de~pribed above, and the annual. production; the 2004 ami~ NO. emissionS from the 

!U1lIt1onium nitrite seCtion of the C Train (Ref..No. TW -17) signifiCantly exceeded the 
Wmual NO. limit of 1257 tpy established in·C.ondition 100 of the Phased Construction 
Permit 

· 24. Based on the. emission faptor established.during the October 7, 2003 RATA ... 
desC!'ilJed abovc;,andthe annual prodlJCtfon; the 2005annUlll NO. emissionS'from the 

'. !U1lIt1oniumnit):itese<;tion of the C Train (Ref. No. TW-l7) significantly eXCeeded'the 
ann~ NO. IirnitoN257 tpy established in Condition 100 of the phased Construction 
Penlrlt. . 

25. . Based on ~e 'emission fjwtQl' established· during the October 7, 2003 RA 'fA . 
desctibed abl:lVe,and the'aJlI!.J1lIipl:Odpction, the 20Q6 ~ual NO. emissions 'fromthe 
anmionium nitrl~es~ction of the C Train (Ref, No. TW -17) significantly exceeded the 
a.m,.ual NO. liniit.of .1257 tpy established'in Condition 100 of the Phased Con:struction 
Permit. 

26. Based on the emission facto~.esfablishedduring the March 6; 2007 RATA described 
above, and the aJlI!.ual production, the 2007 annual NO. emissions fromthe ammonium 

· ,.nitrite section of the C Train (Ref. No. TW -17) s.ignificantly excOO<\edtheannual NO. 
.lim,it of ~257 tpyestablished in cgn,4ition 1000filiePhased ConStniction:Permit and 
Conflition 90 of the Title V. .. . 

27. Based on the emissio~ factor ~blished during theJanuary25, 200$ RATA 
~cribed above, and the annual production, the 2005 aJlI!.ual NO. emissionS from the 
ammoniumnitritJl sectiO!l of the E Train (Ref. No. TW_32).significantlyexceededthe 
ann!Jll.l NOxlilllit.of 600tpyestablished in Condition 103 .ot th~Phased ConstruCtion 

.·P~t. 

28.Based~~ the e;;Ussion faCtor established during the October .15, 2003 RATA 
.' . described above, and the annual production, the 2004 annual NO. emissions.from the 

hydr9xylamb!e di!lJ!llll.onium sulfonate section of the A Train (Ref. No. TW-62) 
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, ,29. Based on the emi~sion factor established during the] anuary 26, 2005 RATA 
, described above,an~ the annual production, the 2005 annual NO~ emissions from the 

",', . :hydroxylamine diamrnoniuin sulfonate section of the D Train (Ref. No. TW -23) , 
significantly exceeded the annual NO. limit of 600 tpy established in Condition 108 of 
the Phased Construction Permit. 

30. Based on the emission :factor, established during the March 2002 emission test 
, .,described above, and the annual production; the 2004 3imualPMlo emiSsions from the 
. . ammoniUm nitri.te section oftlleE Train (Ref. No.' TW.32) significantly exceeded the 

.annual PM10 limit of6 tpy established in Condition 103 ofthci PhasedCOl;lstruction 
Permit. ' , 

31.. Based on the emission factor established during the March 2002 emission test' 
. £!es~bed above, and.the annual production; the 2005.3imuaIPMlo emissiomifromthe 
ammoniUm nitrite section oftheETtain (Ref. No. TW-32) significantly exceeded the 
annual PMlO limit of 6tpy eStablished in'Condition 101 of the' Phased Coilstruction 
Permit. 

32. " Based'on the emission factor establiShed during the March 2002emiSsloil tesf 
•. 4es~bedabove, andthe3imual prodUction; the 2006 annual PM1Q emissions from1he 
• ,ljllJDlonium nitrite sectiol\oftheETram. (Ref. No. TW-32) 'significantly exceeded.the 
.' annualPMIO limit of6tpy established in Condition 103.ofthePhasMCon,StiuCtiOIi 

Permit. 

33. Based o1l:the emission factor establiSheltduringthe March 2002 emission test' 
,4escribed above, and the annualpfOduction; the20073imual PMw emfssionsfrom the 
ammonium.nitrite section of the E Trljin (Ref.No.TW~32)'Significaiitlyexceededthe 
annualPMIO limit.of6 tpy established in Condition'! 030fthetjhased Constructi,on ' 
Permit. '.' 

. m. ENFORCEMENT 

. Section 113(a)(1) ofth!: ACT,as amended; 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(I), proVides tItat at 
any time after theexpirationof30'days following·the date ofiSs\ia:nce of this NOV, the 
EPAAdministrator, or an EPA official authonzed to act as hiS'representative; may, 
without regard to the period of violation issue an order requiring compUance with the 
reqUirements of the, state :implen!entationplan 01' permit, or issUe an administrative 
penalty order pursuant t() Section 113{ d) for civil administratiVe penaltieSfofup to' , 
$27,500 per day of violation for Violati<;>ns occurringonorbefofeMareh 14;2004,' 
$32,500 per day ofvioiation for violations occurring i)fterMarCh14;2004;'and $37,500 
per day of :violation for violations occurring aftedanuary 12, 2009; or briog a ciVil aCtion 
pursuant to Section 113 (b) for injunctive relief andlor civil penalties of not more thari 
$27,500 per day pfviolationfor violations occurring on or'before March 14,2004; 
$32,500.per.day of violation for violations occiurlng after March 14, 2004; and $37,500 
'per day of Violation for violations-ocCurring'ilfter Jaiiuiryl2, 2009. . . 
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Section 113(c) of the Act, as amended, 40 U.S.C. § 7413(c),furtherprovides for 
criminal penalties or imprisonments, or both, for any person who knowingly violates any 
plan· or pennit requirement more that 30 days after the d~teofthe issuance of a NOV. 

Pursuant to$ection 306(a) of the Act, as amended, 42 V.S.C; § 7606(a), regulations 
promulgated thereunder at ito CFR Part 15 and Executive Order 11738, facilities to be 
utilized in federal contrllcts, grants and loans must be in, full compliance with the Act and 
all regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. ViplationS of the Act may result in the 
subject Facility being decIared ineligible for participation in any federal" corilract, grantor 
loan. 

IV. PENALTY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 

Section 113(3)(1) of the Act, as am.ended, 42 U.S,C:§ 7413(e)(1); stlttl: that the 
court, in an action for assessment of civil or' criminal penalties' s\1aIl as appropriate in 
determining the amount of penalty to bil assessed, take into consIderation (in addition to 
such other factors as justice may require) the size of the busmess, the ecOnomic impact of 
the Penalty pn the business; the violator's full compliance history and food faith efforts to 

, comply, the duration of the violation as established by any credible evidence (including 
, ,evidence other that the applicable test method), payIilent by the violator of penalties 
previously assessed for the llamevialation"theecC!llomic benefit of noncompliance, and 
the seriousness of the violation. 

Section I 13(e)(2) of the Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 1413(e)(2), alloWs the 
court to assess a penalty for each day of the \dolation. For purposes of determining the 
number of days of violation, where the plaintiff makes a prima facie showillg that the 
conduct or eventsgi:~g:ris~ tothi~ vioIati'911,are likely fcihavecontinued or recurred paSt 
the dati: of this NOV (or a previously issued' air pofiution eontf<!l agency notice of 
violatipn for the same·vioIation)"the days ofthe:yioIationshall be presumed to include . 
the date of this NOV (or the previous nqtlce'ofviolation) and each Bndeveryday , 
th~reafter until Respondent establ~~es thatcontinuouscompllance has been achieVed, 
except to the extent that Respondent can prove by the preponderance of the evidence that 
there were intervenmg days during which no violation occurred or that the violation was 
not continuing.in nature. ' 

V. OPPORTWIITYFOR CONFERNECE 

, Respondents may, upon request, confer with EPA to discuas this NOV. If 
Respondent requests a conference with EPA, RespOndent should be prepared tp describe 
the causes of the violation and to describe any actions'Respondent may have taken or 
proposes to take to bring the Facility into compliance. Respondent has the right to be 
represented by counsel. 

Respondent rnust submit any request for a conference with EPA within fourteen 
(J 4) calendar days of receipt of this NOV. A request for a conference with EPA, and/or 
any inquires regarding ~s NOV, should be submitted in writing to: . 
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. , ' 

" Dianne McNally . 
" Envir<>mnlmtalEngineer 

Air Protection Division (3API2) 
, U; S;EnvirQIIlIlental PrQtection Agency- Region Ill; , 

1650 Arch Street 
Philade!phia"PA 19.103-2029 

,,(21-5) 81+3297 ' 

and 

Dennis M. Abraham ' 
Se.;uor Assistalli Regional Counsel ' 

, " " Office ofR\lgioi1ltl Counsel (3RCI0) 
, u;g"Envir<>nrnental Protection Agency " Region III 
,J6S0~h'StrC!it ' " , ' •• 
, philadelphia, PA 19103-2029 

.. >(2l~) Sl4-~214 " 
, '--'''' 

VI.,EFFECTlVEDATE 

This NOV shall be, effective immediately upon t(lceipt. 

-.-.-,', , 

VII. QUESTIONS REGARDING NOVJFOV 
. ,-. 

" ,,'In YQuhave any'questions regarding1h\:iss~ce of1hisNOV, youmaycontact 
Ms. Dianne McNally,EnvlrQnment8I Engineer at (215) 814-3297 or Mr. DennisM. 
Ab~Senior Assistant Regional Counsel, at{21S)' S14-5214.' ':,," ' 

,' .. " , 

. " 
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VllI. DISCLOSURE INFORMATION 

Certain companies may be required to disclose to the Securities and ~change 
Commission ("SEC") the existence of certain pending or known to be contemplated 
environmental legal proceedings {administrative or judicial} arising Jinder Federal, State . 
. or Local enviromnentaI laws. Please see the attached "Notice ofSeeurities and Exchange 

. Commission Registrants' Duty to Disclose Environmental Legal Proceectin&s" for more 
information about this requirement and to aid you in determining whether your company 
may be subject to the same. 

EPA is enclosing an Information Sheet entitled "U.S. EPA Small Business 
ResOurCes," (liP A 300-F-99-004, September. I 999), which identifies a variety of' 
compliance assistance and other tools' available to assist small businesses in complying 
with·Federal and State. environmental laws. 

~-.. Date! I 
Air Protection Division 
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